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Independent auditor’s report 

To the shareholders of Toyota Financial Services (South Africa) Limited 

Report on the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements 

Our opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated and separate financial position of Toyota Financial Services (South Africa) Limited (the 
Company) and its subsidiary (together the Group) as at 31 March 2025, and its consolidated and 
separate financial performance and consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South 
Africa. 

What we have audited 

Toyota Financial Services (South Africa) Limited's consolidated and separate financial statements set 
out on pages 28 to 86 comprise: 

 the consolidated and separate statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended; 

 the consolidated and separate statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025; 

 the consolidated and separate statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; 

 the consolidated and separate statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and 
 the notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information. 

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the consolidated and separate financial statements section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.  

Independence 

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ 
Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other independence 
requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with other ethical 
requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the 
corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards). 
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Our audit approach 

Overview 

  

 
Final materiality 
 
R582,639,690 
 
which represents 1% of Total Assets. 
 
Group audit scope 
 
Full scope audits were performed on both Toyota Financial Services (South 
Africa) Limited and its subsidiary, Spartan House 2018 (RF) Limited as both 
were deemed significant for the Group. 
 
Key audit matters 
 
Provision for Expected Credit Losses (“ECL”) on retail loans and advances. 
 

  

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material 
misstatement in the consolidated and separate financial statements. In particular, we considered where 
the directors made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates 
that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all 
of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among 
other matters, consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material 
misstatement due to fraud. 

In terms of the IRBA Rule on Enhanced Auditor Reporting for the Audit of Financial Statements of Public 
Interest Entities, published in Government Gazette Number 49309 dated 15 September 2023 (EAR 
Rule), we report final materiality and group audit scope below. 

Final materiality 
 
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the consolidated and separate financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if 
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the consolidated and separate financial statements. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, 
including the final materiality for the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole as set 
out in the table below. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope 
of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of 
misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the consolidated and separate financial statements 
as a whole. 
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 Consolidated financial statements Separate financial statements 

Final materiality R582,639,690 
 

R 583,998,930 

How we determined 
it 

1% of Total Assets 1% of Total Assets 

Rationale for the 
materiality 
benchmark applied 

We chose Total Assets as the 
benchmark because, in our view, it is 
the benchmark against which the 
performance of the Group is most 
commonly measured by users, due to 
the focus of users on the loans and 
advances (which comprise the 
majority of total assets) as an 
indication of future profitability of the 
Group. We chose 1% which is 
consistent with quantitative 
materiality thresholds used for 
companies of this nature. 

We chose Total Assets as the benchmark 
because, in our view, it is the benchmark 
against which the performance of the 
Company is most commonly measured by 
users, due to the focus of users on the loans 
and advances (which comprise the majority 
of total assets) as an indication of future 
profitability of the Company. We chose 1% 
which is consistent with quantitative 
materiality thresholds used for companies 
of this nature. 

 

 
Group audit scope 

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion 
on the consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the 
accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates. 

In establishing the overall approach to the Toyota Financial Services (South Africa) Limited group audit, 
we determined the extent of work that needed to be performed by us, as the group engagement team, 
in order to issue our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the group. We considered 
both Toyota Financial Services (South Africa) Limited and its subsidiary, Spartan House 2018 (RF) 
Limited to be significant components to the Group and we performed full scope audits on them.  

In establishing the overall approach to the group audit, we determined the extent of the work that needed 
to be performed by us, as the group engagement team in order to issue our audit opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group.   

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period. These matters 
were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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In terms of ISA 701 Communicating key audit matters in the independent auditor’s report / the EAR Rule 
(as applicable), we are required to report key audit matters and the outcome of audit procedures or key 
observations with respect to the key audit matters, and these are included below. 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Provision for Expected Credit Losses (“ECL”) on 
Retail loans and advances 

 

Refer to the following notes to the consolidated 
and separate financial statements for disclosures 
relating to this key audit matter: 

 Accounting policies, note 2.8 – Financial 
Instruments 

 Accounting policies, note 2.9- 
Impairment of financial assets 

 Financial instruments - Accounting 
policies, note 2.17.2 - Critical accounting 
estimates and judgements 

 Note 6 – Impairment charge on financial 
assets 

 Note 12 – Loans and advances 

 Note 26 - Financial risk management - 
Credit risk management 

 
At 31 March 2025 the Group recognised retail 
loans and advances of R55,371 million consisting 
of R3,908 million relating to Retail leases and  
 and R51,463 million of Retail finance. The ECL 
associated with these loans and advances 
amounted to R 2,218 million, R59 million relating 
to Retail leases and R2,159 million relating to 
Retail finance.  

Management applies significant judgement in 
developing the ECL impairment models, 
analysing data and determining the most 
appropriate assumptions and estimates.  

The inputs into the modelling process require 
significant management judgement, which 
include: 

Our audit addressed this key audit matter as 
follows:                                                              

 

We obtained an understanding of management’s 
process for estimating ECL, including the 
significant judgements applied and the 
methodologies used to develop and apply the 
information within the ECL models. 

Using our expertise in credit risk modelling and 
economics, we performed the following audit 
procedures, on a sample basis: 

 We obtained an understanding of the 
ECL model methodology applied and 
compared the model performance 
against actual historical credit 
experience and industry practice and the 
results of model monitoring performed. 
This assessment included back-testing 
of actual losses against predicted losses, 
inspection of significant model 
components and reperformance of 
certain tests within the model monitoring. 
We noted no matters for further 
consideration. 

 We agreed a sample of data elements 
used as inputs to the ECL models to 
relevant source documentation, and 
noted no material exceptions.  

 We recalculated the ECL model 
components (PD, EAD and LGD) to 
assess the accuracy of the modelled 
outputs, and noted no differences 
outside our acceptable range. 
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

 The input assumptions and 
methodologies applied to estimate the 
probability of default (“PD”), loss given 
default (“LGD”) and exposure at default 
(“EAD”) within the ECL calculations; 

 The assessment of whether there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk 
(“SICR”) event since the origination date 
of the exposure to the reporting date, 
taking into account the impact of the 
event-driven uncertainty; 

 The incorporation of Forward-Looking 
Information (“FLI”) and macroeconomic 
inputs into the SICR assessment and 
ECL calculations; 

 Determining and weighting of 
assumptions used in the forward- looking 
economic model to account for this 
uncertainty; and 

 Where there is uncertainty in respect of 
the respective models' ability to address 
specific trends or conditions due to 
inherent limitations of modelling based 
on past performance, the timing of model 
updates and macroeconomic events, 
additional provisions are recognised as 
post-model adjustments and overlays.  

We considered the determination of the ECL on 
the Retail loans and advances to be a matter of 
most significance to the current year audit due to 
the following: 

 the high degree of estimation uncertainty 
in the ECL, and  

 the significant judgements applied by 
management and assumption in 
determining the ECL. 

 We evaluated the reasonableness of the 
SICR classifications by independently 
applying the assumptions in 
management's model to the data and 
noted that these fell within an acceptable 
range. 

 We reviewed the SICR thresholds 
applied and the resultant transfer into 
Stage 2 for SICR. This assessment 
included benchmarking the volume of up-
to-date accounts transferred to Stage 2 
to historical trends of movements from 
performing into arrears and forward- 
looking expectation of default risk and 
noted that these fell within an acceptable 
range. 

 We compared the assumptions used in 
the forward-looking economic model, the 
macroeconomic variables selected and 
the sensitivity of ECL components to 
each variable to our own actuarial 
analysis and statistics and noted that 
these were within an acceptable range. 

 We evaluated the probability-weighted 
macroeconomic scenario estimates 
applied by management through 
comparing the scenarios and 
probabilities applied to our own and 
benchmarked economic forecasts and 
independent market data. We noted that 
management's scenarios were 
comparable with the independent 
benchmarks. 

 We assessed the appropriateness of 
model adjustments and overlays 
identified against internal and external 
supporting information and noted no 
matters outside the acceptable range. 
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

 We assessed the need for post-model 
adjustments against our independent 
outlooks and calculated and performed a 
sensitivity analysis on management's 
post-model adjustments and overlays 
and noted no matters for further 
consideration. 

 We also assessed the reasonableness of 
the disclosures against the requirements 
of IFRS Accounting Standards and noted 
no material matters for further 
consideration 

 

Other information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the document titled "Toyota Financial Services Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial 
Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025", which includes the Directors’ Report, the Audit, Risk 
and Compliance Committee’s Report and the Company Secretary’s Certificate as required by the 
Companies Act of South Africa. The other information does not include the consolidated or the separate 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other information 
and we do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility is 
to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information 
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and separate financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated and separate financial statements 

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate 
financial statements in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the requirements of the 
Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for 
assessing the Group's and the Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
directors either intend to liquidate the Group and/or the Company or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 
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Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated and separate financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's and the Company's internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's and the Company's ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and 
separate financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group and / or Company to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate 
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate 
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation. 

 Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence, regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business units within the Group, as a basis for forming an 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 
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We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication. 

a 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements  

Audit tenure 

In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, 
we report that PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been the auditor of Toyota Financial Services (South 
Africa) Limited for 4 years. 

aOSIGN 1 

 
 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. 
Director: Louwrens van Velden 
Registered Auditor 
Johannesburg, South Africa 
11 June 2025 



Toyota Financial Services (South Africa) Limited
(Registration number 1982/010082/06)
Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

for the year ended 31 March
Group Group Company Company

2025 2024 2025 2024

Note R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Interest income calculated using effective interest rate 4a       6 102 822       5 582 076       6 126 181       5 590 603 

Interest expense 5     (4 260 391)     (3 857 971)     (4 336 562)     (3 863 630)

Net interest income before impairment of advances       1 842 431       1 724 105       1 789 619       1 726 973 

Impairment charge on financial assets 6 (702 993)       (713 895)       (698 670)       (712 845)       

Income from lending activities       1 139 438       1 010 210       1 090 949       1 014 128 

Fee and commission income 4b          242 406          236 529          230 900          233 771 

Other income 7          161 060          162 603          171 718          187 552 

Operating income       1 542 904       1 409 342       1 493 567       1 435 451 

Operating expenses 8 (690 648)       (650 958)       (686 561)       (649 758)       

Profit before taxation          852 256          758 384          807 006          785 693 

Taxation 9        (215 981)        (189 130)        (203 764)        (190 636)

Profit for the year          636 275          569 254          603 242          595 057 

Other comprehensive income

Items that may not be reclassified to profit or loss

Fair value gain / (loss) of Investment in Hollard Business 
Associates

19            (5 011)            25 348            (5 011)            25 348 

Deferred tax on fair value movement of investment in Hollard 
Business Associates

14              1 353            (6 844)              1 353            (6 844)

Actuarial gain / (loss) on Employee benefit liability 22               (334)                 705               (334)                 705 

Deferred tax on actuarial gain / (loss) on Employee benefit liability 14                   91               (190)                   91               (190)

Total comprehensive income for the year          632 374          588 273          599 341          614 076 

Consolidated and Separate Statement of Comprehensive Income
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Toyota Financial Services (South Africa) Limited
(Registration number 1982/010082/06)
Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

as at 31 March
Group Group Company Company

2025 2024 2025 2024

Note R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 17         400 834         128 350                839             2 192 

Current tax receivable 16           37 590           31 720           30 134           16 228 

Trade and other receivables 15           33 528           10 788           36 853           17 092 

Receivable from subsidiary 11                     -                     -           10 638             4 343 

Deferred tax 14         266 705         275 272         266 705         275 272 

Other investments 19           44 441           49 452           44 441           49 452 

Loans and advances 12    57 467 512    51 541 713    57 467 512    51 541 713 

Investment in subsidiary 11                     -                     -         529 412         176 471 

Property, plant and equipment 10           13 359           17 577           13 359           17 577 

Total Assets    58 263 969    52 054 872    58 399 893    52 100 340 

Equity and Liabilities

Equity

Share capital 18                    5                    5                    5                    5 

Share premium 18         644 995         644 995         644 995         644 995 

Equity reserves           35 449           39 350           35 449           39 350 

Retained income      4 730 402      4 260 885      4 700 240      4 263 756 

Total Equity      5 410 851      4 945 235      5 380 689      4 948 106 

Liabilities

Bank overdraft 20      2 842 184      1 243 901      2 842 184      1 243 901 

Trade and other payables 23      2 979 477      1 454 803      2 935 480      1 440 844 

Lease liabilities 24           15 540           18 818           15 540           18 818 

Loans from subsidiary 21                     -                     -      2 633 583         991 556 

Borrowings 20    46 948 500    44 337 000    44 525 000    43 402 000 

Employee benefits liability 22           16 917           15 115           16 917           15 115 

Regulatory Provision 13           50 500           40 000           50 500           40 000 

Total Liabilities    52 853 118    47 109 637    53 019 204    47 152 234 

Total Equity and Liabilities    58 263 969    52 054 872    58 399 893    52 100 340 

Consolidated and Separate Statement of Financial Position
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Toyota Financial Services (South Africa) Limited
(Registration number 1982/010082/06)
Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

for the year ended 31 March

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Group

Balance at 31 March 2023 5                   644 995        4 108 631     20 331          4 773 962     

Profit for the year -                    -                    569 254        -                    569 254        

Other comprehensive income -                    -                    -                    19 019          19 019          

Dividends paid (R88 818  per share) -                    -                    (417 000)       -                    (417 000)       

Balance at 31 March 2024 5                   644 995        4 260 885     39 350          4 945 235     

Profit for the year -                    -                    636 275        -                    636 275        

Other comprehensive income -                    -                    -                    (3 901)           (3 901)           

Dividends paid (R35 518  per share) -                    -                    (166 758)       -                    (166 758)       

Balance at 31 March 2025 5                   644 995        4 730 402     35 449          5 410 851     

Company

Balance at 31 March 2023 5                   644 995        4 085 699     20 331          4 751 030     

Profit for the year -                    -                    595 057        -                    595 057        

Other comprehensive income -                    -                    -                    19 019          19 019          

Dividends paid (R88 818  per share) -                    -                    (417 000)       -                    (417 000)       

Balance at 31 March 2024 5                   644 995        4 263 756     39 350          4 948 106     

Profit for the year -                    -                    603 242        -                    603 242        

Other comprehensive income -                    -                    -                    (3 901)           (3 901)           

Dividends paid (R35 518  per share) -                    -                    (166 758)       -                    (166 758)       

Balance at 31 March 2025 5                   644 995        4 700 240     35 449          5 380 689     

Consolidated and Separate Statement of Changes in Equity

Share Capital
Share 

Premium
Retained 

Income
Equity 

Reserves
Total

 Equity
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Toyota Financial Services (South Africa) Limited
(Registration number 1982/010082/06)
Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

for the year ended 31 March
Group Group Company Company

2025 2024** 2025 2024**

Note R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Cash flow from operating activities

Cash utilised by operating activities 25          (325 777)          (266 829)          (322 538)          (265 171)

Interest and similar income received        5 957 476        5 478 029        5 980 835        5 486 556 

Interest and similar charges paid       (4 272 508)       (3 945 885)       (4 323 751)       (3 932 294)

Write offs recovered 6             56 424             55 511             56 424             55 511 

Dividends paid          (166 758)          (417 000)          (166 758)          (417 000)

Tax (paid) / received 16          (211 840)          (252 903)          (207 659)          (240 004)

Movement of operating assets and liabilities       (5 024 351)       (7 498 216)       (5 078 310)       (7 538 071)

(Decrease) / increase in Trade and other payables 1 536 791       (1 002 541)      1 481 825       (1 035 214)      

(Increase) / decrease in Trade and other receivables (22 740)           (2 187)             (26 056)           (10 419)           

(Increase) / decrease in gross loans and advances (6 539 870)      (6 494 688)      (6 535 547)      (6 493 638)      

(Decrease) / increase in employee benefits liability 1 468              1 200              1 468              1 200              

Net cash flow from operating activities       (3 987 334)       (6 847 293)       (4 061 757)       (6 850 473)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 10                       -            (21 092)                       -            (21 092)

Proceeds from disposal of property plant                       -                  325                       -                  325 

Dividends received 7             53 313             58 966             53 313             80 699 

Investment in notes in the subsidiary                       -                       -          (352 941)                       - 

Net cash flow from investing activities             53 313             38 199          (299 628)             59 932 

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings      13 617 500      16 795 000      11 900 000      15 860 000 

Repayments of borrowings     (11 006 000)     (10 185 000)     (10 777 000)     (10 185 000)

Proceeds from loan from subsidiary 21                       -                       -        2 286 612           953 187 

Repayment of loan from subsidiary 21                       -                       -          (644 585)                       - 

Redemption of notes in subsidiary                       -                       -                       - -                 
Investment in notes in the subsidiary                       -                       -                       -          (104 040)

Bank overdraft 20        1 598 283           242 879        1 598 283           242 879 

Increase in lease liabilities 24                       -             21 092                       -             21 092 

Repayment of lease liabilities net of interest 24              (3 278)              (2 912)              (3 278)              (2 912)

Net cash flow from financing activities        4 206 505        6 871 059        4 360 032        6 785 206 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 272 484          61 965            (1 353)             (5 335)             

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 128 350          66 385            2 192              7 527              

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 17           400 834           128 350                  839               2 192 

Consolidated and Separate Statement of Cash Flows

**Restated. Refer to note 32
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Toyota Financial Services (South Africa) Limited
(Registration number 1982/010082/06)
Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

1. Introduction

Application of the going concern principle

On the basis of the forecasts, the directors are comfortable that the Group has satisfied the going concern justification. The going concern basis, therefore,
continues to apply and has been adopted in the preparation of the annual financial statements. 

Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements

The consolidated and separate annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS, the Financial Reporting Pronouncements as
issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, the JSE Debt and
Specialist Securities Listings Requirements, and requirements of the Companies Act, no 71 of 2008 ("Companies Act").

These financial statements comprise the consolidated and separate statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025, the consolidated and separate statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated and separate statement of changes in equity, the consolidated and separate statement of cash flows for the year
ended, and the notes to the consolidated and separate annual financial statements, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes.

The Board undertakes regular rigorous assessments of whether the Group is a going concern in the light of current economic conditions taking into account all
available information about future risks and uncertainties. The projections for the Group have been prepared, covering its future performance, capital and liquidity
for a period of 12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements. The assessment performed by the Directors indicate there is no reason to
believe that the business will not be a going concern in the year ahead and have accordingly adopted the going concern basis in preparing the annual financial
statements.

The Group annual financial statements have been prepared to incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the company. This
includes Spartan House 2018 (RF) Ltd (subsidiary). 

The consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared on the historic cost convention, unless otherwise stated in the accounting policies which follow
and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below. The financial statements are presented in thousands of South African Rand rounded to the nearest
thousand (R'000) which is the Group and Company's functional currency.

The directors have reviewed the Group's budget and cash flow forecasts for the next three years and considered the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in light of the current and anticipated economic conditions. These forecasts took the impact of different scenarios on the Group's capital, funding and
liquidity requirements, all of which have remained within internal targets. 
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-
-

-

2.1.4. Dividend Income

2.1.5. Other Income

-
-
-

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated and separate annual financial statements are set out below.

2.1. Revenue recognition

The majority of the revenue earned by the Group is from financial instruments and leasing agreements. 

2.1.1. Interest Income - IFRS 9

Fees and commissions that form an integral part of the effective interest rate are excluded from fees and commissions as below.

Unless specifically stated otherwise, the Group is the principal in its revenue arrangements as the Group controls the goods and services before transferring them
to the customer.

Under IFRS 15, where a five-step analysis is required to determine the amount and timing of revenue recognition, the Group assesses contracts and determines
whether the fees identified in the contract relate to revenue as defined in IFRS 15. The revenue is recognised only if the Group can identify the contract and the
performance obligation (i.e. the different goods and services), and can determine the transaction price which is required to be allocated to the identifiable
performance obligations.

2.1.3. Fee and commission income - IFRS 15

The effective interest rate method allocates the interest income and fee and commission expenses attributable to the financial instrument over the average
expected life of the financial instruments or portfolios of financial instruments. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for
example, origination fees) but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate and transaction costs.

Interest is accounted for under IFRS 9.

2. Accounting policies

The Group recognises interest income, being interest on, Retail Finance and Wholesale Lease agreements, in the statement of comprehensive income for all
instruments measured at amortised cost. 

The vast majority of fee and commission income is earned on the execution of a single performance obligation and, as such, it is not necessary to make
significant judgements when allocating the transaction price to the performance obligation. As such, fee and commission income, are recognised at a point in
time.
Where the distinct performance obligation is satisfied over a period of time, the fees are recognised as follows:

Fee and commission income is earned by the Group by providing customers with a range of services and products, and consists of the following main
categories and disclosed in Note 4b:

Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements

Dividends received are primarily from the cell captive arrangement. The investment is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends are recognised as other income in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when the right to receive the payment is established. 

The following is recognised in other income at the point in time when the amounts become receivable from the customer:
Retail finance document fees (IFRS 15); 
Retail lease document fees (IFRS 15); and
Servicer fee recovered from subsidiary (IFRS 15).

commission income on the sale of insurance contracts.
fees on origination of lease agreements; and

Unearned finance income is recognised as interest income over the term of the lease using the effective interest rate method as per 2.1.1 Interest Income -
IFRS 9.

Interest on credit impaired accounts is calculated on net carrying amount.

Revenue comprises the fair value received or receivable for services rendered and is recognised as follows:

2.1.2. Lease Income - IFRS 16
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2.2. Interest Expense

2.3. Expenses

2.4. Operating Segments

-

-

Item                                                                Depreciation method Average useful life

Office furniture & equipment                    Straight line                             4 to 10 years

Computer software Straight line                             3 years

2.5. Taxation

2.5.1. Current income tax

The current income tax expense is calculated by adjusting the net profit for the year for items that are non-taxable or disallowed. It is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

2.5.2. Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial
statements.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and reflects the uncertainty related to income taxes, if there are any. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary
difference. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will
be realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves. 

Items of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, are carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation / accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment comprises major components having different useful lives, they are accounted for 
separately. The residual values and useful lives are reviewed annually and adjusted if necessary. Gains and losses on disposal of items of property, plant
and equipment are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included in operating expenses in the statement of comprehensive
income.

2.6. Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

The Group reports a single segment - provision of retail and wholesale financing of Toyota, Lexus and Hino products for the Toyota South Africa dealer network
and their customers, as well as used vehicles sold through the Toyota South Africa dealer network.

Management and the Board of Directors regularly review the operating results of the Group, which are consistent with these financial statements.

Expenses of the Group, apart from certain fee and commission expenses included in net interest income, are recognised and measured in terms of the accrual
principle and presented as operating expenses in the statement of comprehensive income.

Interest expense includes interest on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost and bond arranging fees.

Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements

The Group is domiciled in the Republic of South Africa and all of the Group's income is from operations in the Republic.

The Group has three shareholder's each holding 33.3% of the issued share capital.

There were no changes to reportable segments during the year.

External computer software development costs are capitalised when they can be clearly associated with a strategic and unique system which will result in a 
benefit to the Group exceeding the costs incurred for more than one financial period.
Material acquired trademarks, patents and similar rights are capitalised when the Group will receive a benefit from these intangible assets for more than one 
financial period.

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent it relates to a business combination or other
items recognised directly in equity or in OCI.

All other costs related to intangible assets are expensed in the financial period incurred.

Internally generated intangible assets (including computer software and other assets such as trademarks or patents) are capitalised when the requirements of IAS
38 relating to the recognition of internally generated assets have been met.

Depreciation and amortisation is charged to the statement of comprehensive income on the straight-line method so as to write off the depreciable amount of
property, plant and equipment and amortised intangible assets over the estimated useful life of the assets as follows:
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Subsidiary

-

-

-

-

-

Initial measurement

In considering whether the business objective of holding a group of financial assets is achieved primarily through collecting contractual cash flows, amongst other
considerations, management monitors the frequency and significance of sales of financial assets out of these portfolios for purposes other than managing credit
risk. For the purposes of performing the business model assessment, the Group only considers a transaction a sale if the asset is derecognised for accounting
purposes.

Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition, based on the business model for managing the financial assets. The
main consideration in determining the different business models across the Group is whether the objectives of the business model are met primarily through
holding the financial assets to collect contractual cash flows, through the sale of these financial assets, by managing assets and liabilities on a fair value basis, or
through a combination of these activities.

2.8. Financial instruments

Based on the business model assessment, the main business model for managing financial assets is to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash
flows. The business model assessment is not performed on an instrument by instrument basis, but at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are
managed together to achieve a particular business objective.

All financial instruments are initially measured at fair value including transaction costs, except for those classified as fair value through profit or loss in which case
the transaction costs are expensed upfront in profit or loss, usually as part of operating expenses. Any upfront income earned, such as fees on origination of lease
contracts, on financial instruments is recognised as detailed under policy 2.1. Revenue recognition depending on the underlying nature of the income.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

The accounting policies of subsidiaries that are consolidated by the Group conform to the accounting policies. Intragroup transactions, balances and
unrealised gains/(losses) are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same manner as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that
there is no evidence of impairment. The proportion of comprehensive income and changes in equity allocated to the group and non-controlling interest are

2.7 Basis of Consolidation

Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements

Interests in structured entities that are not considered to be a typical customer-supplier relationship are required to be identified and disclosed. The Group 
regards interest to be a typical customer-supplier relationship where the level of risk inherent in that interest in the structured entity exposes the group to a 
similar risk profile to that found in standard market-related transaction. The Group sponsors a structured entity through financial support, even when not 
contractually required to, for events such as litigation, tax and other operational difficulties.

Whether the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power to direct the activities of the entity;
What extent the Group is involved in the setup of the entity; and

What extent the Group is responsible to ensure that the entity operates as intended.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less accumulated impairment losses (where applicable) in the separate financial statements. The carrying
amounts of these investments are reviewed annually for impairment indicators and, where an indicator of impairment exists, are impaired to the higher of the

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group acquires control up to the date that control is lost. Control is assessed on a continuous basis. 

Only one party can have control over a subsidiary. In determining whether the Group has control over an entity, consideration is given to any rights the Group has

In operating entities shareholding is most often the clearest indication of control. However, for structured entities, judgement is often needed to determine which
investors have control of the entity. 

Decision making power

Some of the major factors considered by the Group in making this determination include the following:

The purpose and design of the entity;

What the relevant activities of the entity are;
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Amortised cost

2.8.1. Financial assets

2.8.1.1. Cash and cash equivalents

-
-
-

2.8.1.2. Loans and advances

Per the IFRIC Agenda, for an overdraft facility to meet the definition of cash and cash equivalents, the following criteria must be met:

Facility must be repayable on demand;

Facility must be an integral part of the Group's cash management strategy; and

Facility must regularly fluctuate between positive and negative balances.

IFRS 9 Loans and Advances are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs and initiation fees that are directly attributable to the acquisition and
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment.

The Group calculates the EIR in accordance with IFRS 9. The expected cash flows are estimated by considering all the contractual terms of the financial
instrument (for example, origination fees) but excludes the expected credit losses. The calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the
contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate and transaction costs.

The EIR calculation considers the initiation fees received and the DIC paid at the point of origination. These fees are deferred and recognised as an
adjustment to the effective interest rate. To calculate the EIR, the DIC and deferred initiation fees at the origination date are capitalised to the contractual
balance outstanding and the EIR will be the rate that discounts the expected cash flows of the loans over the expected life of the loans to this balance. The
amount capitalised for the DIC includes the non-recoverable portion of the Input VAT on that DIC.
The expected life of an advance is estimated to be the period from the origination of past advances with similar characteristics and risk profile to the actual
final payment date of those advances. The estimated final payment date will hence not necessarily be the contractual date of the last payment. All advances
are segmented into portfolios based on their risk profiles and characteristics in the calculation of the behavioural term. The Group uses the presumption that
the cash flows and the expected life of a group of similar financial instruments can be estimated reliably.

2.8.1.3. Deferred income

Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements

Cash and cash equivalents are measured initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost and are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash, which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Such cash and cash equivalents are normally those with less than three maturity
from the date of acquisition and include cash. The cash flows on these assets are solely payments of principal and interest. 

Cash flow characteristics

In order for a debt instrument to be measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, the cash flows on the asset have to be solely
payments of principal and interest (SPPI), i.e. consistent with those of a basic lending agreement.

The SPPI test is applied on a portfolio basis for retail and wholesale advances, as the cash flow characteristics of these assets are standardized. This includes the
consideration of any prepayment penalties that are limited by consumer credit regulation and can therefore be considered reasonable compensation which would
not cause these assets to fail the SPPI test. 

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method when they are held to collect contractual cash flows which are solely
payments of principal and interest, and sales of such assets are not significant or frequent. This interest rate is determined based on the amortised cost and not
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Loans and Advances consist of the following categories:
- Retail Lease (IFRS 16);
- Retail Finance (IFRS 9); and
- Wholesale (IFRS 9).

Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or variable payments.

If the contract contains prepayment penalties, the amount of the prepayment penalty is compared to the present value of the margin that will be earned if the loan
is not prepaid. If the amount of the prepayment penalty is lower than or equal to the margin lost due to prepayment, this is considered reasonable compensation
and the loan passes the SPPI test.

Cash and cash equivalents consists of bank and bank balances.

2.8. Financial instruments (continued)

Deferred income relates to initiation fees paid at the initiation of the loan and advances transaction. These fees are capitalised to the contractual balance
outstanding and amortised in line with the expected life of the loans.  

2.8.1.4. Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables comprise of pre-payments and other receivables. These assets are measured at amortised cost.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. 

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 36 months and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced
within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and FLI on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables. The Group has identified the GDP, CPI and the unemployment rate to be the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss
rates based on expected changes to these factors.
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-

-

-

-
-

-

separately on the statement of financial position and bear interest at market related rates. 
Bank overdrafts that do no meet the definition of cash and cash equivalents as per 2.8.1.1 are classified as short term borrowings which are shown 

The objective of the measurement of an impairment loss is to produce a quantitative measure of the credit risk exposure. In determining the amount of
the impairment, the Group considers the following:

Stage 2: if the asset has experienced a SICR, the asset is classified as Stage 2 and lifetime expected credit losses are recognised; and

Stage 3: if the asset has become credit impaired since initial recognition, the non-performing asset is classified as Stage 3, with expected credit losses
measured and recognised on a lifetime basis.

Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements

2.8.2.2. Trade and other payables

the PD which is a measure of the expectation of how likely the customer is to Default,
the EAD which is the expected amount outstanding at the point of Default, and

The Group has elected to designate other investments not held for trading to be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income as the business
model is to hold the investment and not to trade. The Group holds one such investment, the investment in the Hollard Business Associates cell captive. The
valuation methodology applied is a discounted cash flow of the future expected cash flows i.e. dividends. Dividends are discounted from the point of
distribution to the present time at the risk-free yield curve plus a constant risk margin. Net gains or losses recognised do not include dividend income.

Trade and other payables, except for bank overdrafts, are non-interest bearing and are stated at their fair value on initial recognition and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished, that is, when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.

2.9. Impairment of financial assets

IFRS 9 establishes a three-stage approach for impairment of financial assets:

Stage 1: at initial recognition of a financial asset, the asset is classified as Stage 1 and 12-month expected credit losses are recognised, which are credit
losses related to default events expected to occur within the next 12 months;

The Group continuously assesses its credit portfolios for impairment. Advances are monitored by the credit committee and impaired according to the Group's
impairment policy.

These parameters are estimated using statistical models that predict future cash flows on the basis of historical behaviour for similar exposures over equivalent
measurement periods. Adjustments to statistical estimates are made to allow for current conditions that were not present in the historical data referenced, and to
allow for the impact of forward-looking macro-economic forecasts. Refer to accounting policy note 2.16 dealing with critical accounting estimates and judgements
where all risk parameters, scenarios and sources of estimation are detailed more extensively.

2.9.1. Credit-impaired financial assets

Advances are considered credit impaired if they meet the definition of default. The definition of default applied for calculating impairments under
IFRS 9 has been aligned to the definition applied for banking industry capital calculations across all portfolios, as well as those applied in operational
management of credit and for internal risk management purposes. Exposures are considered to be in default when they are more than 90 days past due or, in
the case of amortising products, more than 3 unpaid instalments. In addition, an exposure is considered to have defaulted when there are qualitative
indicators that the borrower is unlikely to pay their credit obligations in full without any recourse by the Group to actions such as the realisation of security. A
default event is considered to be a separate default event only if an account has met the portfolio-specific cure definition prior to the second or subsequent
default. Default events that are not separate are treated as a single default event when developing LGD term structures.

Indicators of unlikeliness to pay are determined based on the requirements of Regulation 67 of the Banks Act. Any distressed restructures of accounts which
have experienced a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition are defined as default events. Accounts are considered to no longer be in default
if they meet the stringent cure definition, which has been determined at a portfolio level.

2.8.3. Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income

2.8.2.1. Borrowings

In determining whether an impairment loss should be recognised, the Group makes judgements as to whether there is observable data indicating a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans.

the LGD which is the expected Loss that will be realised at Default after taking into account recoveries through collateral.

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method. Amortised cost is adjusted for the amortisation of any transaction costs, premiums and discounts. The amortisation is recognised in
interest expense using the effective interest rate method.

2.8.2. Financial liabilities

The financial liabilities consists of borrowings, lease liabilities, bank overdraft and trade and other payables. All financial liabilities are measured at
amortised cost.

2.8. Financial instruments (continued)
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Reporting date PDs are calculated on a forward-looking basis, with PDs adjusted where appropriate to incorporate the impacts of multiple forward-looking
macro-economic scenarios.

For a retail account to cure from Stage 3 back to either Stage 2 or Stage 1, the account needs to meet a stringent cure definition. Cure definitions are
determined on a portfolio level with reference to suitable analysis and are set such that the probability of a previously cured account re-defaulting is
equivalent to the probability of default for an account that has not defaulted in the past. For wholesale exposures, cures are assessed on a case by case
basis, subsequent to an analysis by the relevant debt restructuring credit committee.

The credit risk on an exposure is no longer considered to be significantly higher than at origination if no qualitative indicators of a SICR are triggered, and if
comparison of the reporting date PD to the origination date PD no longer indicates that a SICR has occurred. No minimum period for transition from Stage 2
back to Stage 1 is applied. A 12-month curing definition is applied to Stage 3 accounts, therefore an account has to be performing for 12 consecutive months
before it can be disclosed in Stage 1 or 2. With regards to distressed restructured accounts, these are required to remain in Stage 2 for a minimum period of
6 months before re-entering Stage 1, as per the requirements of SARB Directive 7 of 2015.

In order to determine whether an advance has experienced a SICR, the PD of the asset calculated at the origination date is compared to that calculated at
the reporting date. An asset is flagged as having experienced an increase in credit risk if the estimated lifetime probability of default at the reporting date is
higher than the corresponding probability of default from the date of origination. The origination date is defined to be the most recent date at which the Group
had an opportunity to price or re-price the advance based on the outcome of either the original or an up-to-date risk assessment. SICR test thresholds are re-
assessed and, if necessary, updated, on at least an annual basis.

The unit of account, being the individual contract concluded between the Group and the customer, is the level at which the write-off point is assessed. It is at
this point that the assessment is made that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. 

where collateral is repossessed under a court order, which is the majority of cases, the Group relies on evidence placed before the courts as well as the court
order allowing repossession to determine the likelihood of a client's ability to meet their present and future obligations;

Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements

Any up-to-date facility that has undergone a distressed restructure (i.e. a modification of contractual cash flows to prevent a client from going into arrears) will
be considered to have experienced a SICR.

2.9.2. Determination of whether the credit risk of financial instruments have increased significantly since initial recognition

should either of these processes reveal that the client cannot meet their obligations, the vehicle upon return is disposed of via an auction process and the
loan is written off;

2.9. Impairment of financial assets (continued)

In addition to the quantitative assessment based on PDs, qualitative considerations are applied when determining whether individual exposures have
experienced a SICR. One such qualitative consideration is the appearance of wholesale and commercial SME facilities on a credit watch list.

2.9.4. Write offs

The PDs used to perform the test for a SICR are calculated by applying the PD model in force as at the reporting date. This model is retro-applied using data
as at the origination date to determine origination date PDs.

by implication, in both retail and wholesale portfolios, write-offs cannot and do not occur if there is evidence of recent payment behaviour. Each credit portfolio
has articulated a write-off policy that aligns with the principles of IFRS 9 while taking the business context of that portfolio into account; and

Origination date PDs are measured at initial recognition of an instrument, unless there has been a subsequent risk-based re-pricing opportunity. Where the
models used to determine PDs cannot discriminate good credit risks from bad credit risks effectively at initial recognition due to a lack of behavioural
information, proxy origination dates of up to 6 months post initial recognition are applied. Where proxy origination dates are applied, early qualitative
indicators of SICR, such as fraudulent account activity or partial arrears, are applied to trigger movement into Stage 2.

where costs directly attributable to the recovery of a written off account can be identified, these costs are setoff against the gross recovery amount and not
classified as an operating expense;

within wholesale and retail portfolios, a judgmental approach to write-offs is followed, based on case-by-case assessment.

Write-off must occur when it is not economical to pursue further recoveries i.e. there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the carrying amount of the
asset (gross amount less specific impairments raised):

Any facility that is more than 30 days past due, or in the case of instalment-based products one instalment past due, is automatically considered to have
experienced a SICR.

2.9.3. Curing

where the collateral is surrendered voluntarily, the Group will look at evidence it has gathered and follow a process substantially similar to the process
followed by the court in determining the likelihood of a client's ability to meet their present and future obligations;
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2.9.6. Other financial assets

The following transactions are entered into by the Group in the normal course of business in terms of which it transfers financial assets directly to third parties
or structured entities, or modifies the contractual terms of the asset and either achieves derecognition or continues to recognise the asset:

The Group, however, does have a legal right to pursue recovery on written off accounts and does exercise that right. In addition to that right the Group has a
legal obligation to its stakeholders to pursue recovery on written off accounts.

Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements

2.9. Impairment of financial assets (continued)

2.9.5. Transfers, modifications and derecognition

Derecognition of financial assets includes a situation of substantial modification of the terms and conditions of an existing financial asset. A substantial
modification of the terms occurs where the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received
and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10% different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original
financial asset.

the contractual terms of the instrument are substantially modified and the derecognition criteria of IFRS 9 are met.

The existing asset is not derecognised. The gross carrying amount of the financial asset is recalculated as the present value of the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the renegotiated or modified financial asset, discounted at the financial original effective interest rate. The gain or
loss on modification is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

they are transferred and the derecognition criteria of IFRS 9 are met, or

Financial instruments are derecognised when:

Partial write-offs are not performed within credit portfolios. Where required, additional impairments against irrecoverable assets will be raised until such a time
as final write-off can occur.

All physical cash is classified as Stage 1. Other exposures are classified as Stage 1 unless specific evidence of impairment exists, in which case these
assets are classified as Stage 3. ECL for physical cash is immaterial. ECL for cash equivalents is calculated using the loss rate approach. ECL for trade and
other receivables is calculated using the loss rate approach. This results in LECL being recognised.

2.10. Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Specific advances or investment securities are transferred to a structured entity, which then issues liabilities to third party investors, for example variable rate
notes or investment grade commercial paper. The Group's obligations toward the third party note holders is limited to the cash flows received on the
underlying securitised advances or non-recourse investment securities i.e. the note holders only have a claim to the ring-fenced assets in the structured
entity, and not to other assets of the Group. The Group consolidates these securitisation and conduit vehicles as structured entities, in terms of IFRS 10.

2.9.5.2. Modifications without derecognition

2.9.5.1. Traditional securitisations and conduit programmes i.e. non-recourse transactions

the contractual rights or obligations expire or are extinguished, discharged or cancelled, for example an outright sale or settlement,

Financial assets are derecognised when the Group has either transferred the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset or it has assumed an
obligation to pay over all the cash flows from the asset to another entity (i.e. pass through arrangement under IFRS 9).

If the contractual cash flows of a financial asset measured at amortised cost are modified (changed or restructured, including distressed restructures), the
Group determines whether this is a substantial modification, following which, results in the derecognition of the existing asset, and the recognition of a new
asset, or whether the change is simply a non-substantial modification of the existing terms which does not result in derecognition.

Collection costs associated with write offs are either recognised against any recoveries recognised in the period or in other expenses when they cannot be
attributed to a recovery.

The transferred assets continue to be recognised by the Group in full. The Group recognises an associated liability for the obligation toward third party note
holders. 

Modified contractual terms that are not priced to reflect current conditions and are thus not substantial. For retail advances, this includes debt restructuring
accounts where the new terms of the contract (such as a lower interest rate) is mandated by law and do not have the same commercial terms as a new
product that the Group would be willing to offer a customer with a similar risk profile. The same principle is applied for wholesale advances on a case-by-case
basis.

2.9.4. Write offs (continued)
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Provisions are recognised when it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the statement of financial position date, which is the amount that the Group would rationally pay to settle the obligation
at the statement of financial position date or to transfer it to a third party at that time.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised but are disclosed, unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent
assets are not recognised but are disclosed, where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

2.11. Impairment of non-financial assets

2.14. Employee Post-employment benefits

Defined benefit plans including post employment medical aid benefit

2.13. Provisions and contingencies

Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements

Recognition
The liabilities and assets of these funds are reflected as a net asset or liability in the statement of financial position, i.e. the present value of the defined benefit
obligation at the reporting date less the fair value of plan assets.
Where the value is a net asset, the amount recognised is limited to the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or
reductions in future contributions to the plan.

Defined contribution plans
Recognition
Contributions are recognised as an expense, included in staff costs, when the employees have rendered the service entitling them to the contributions. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Where the Group is the lessor under a finance lease, the Group recognises assets sold under a finance lease as finance lease receivables included in advances
and impair the advances, as required, in line with the impairment of financial assets accounting policy. No practical expedients are applied, and the general model
under IFRS 9 is used for impairment calculations on lease receivables. Unearned finance income is recognised as interest income over the term of the lease
using the effective interest method. Finance lease receivables are presented as part of advances in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Measurement
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected credit unit method. The discount rate used
is the rate of nominal government-issued bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and have terms to maturity approximating
the terms of the related pension liability.

Measurement
On the date of the purchase the defined contribution liability and the plan assets will increase for the purchase amount and thereafter the accounting treatment
applicable to defined contribution plans will be applied to the purchased pension. It should be noted that the purchase price for a new retiree would be slightly
larger than the liability determined on the accounting valuation, as the purchase price allows for a more conservative mortality assumption based on the solvency
reserves of the fund.

The Group provides employee retirement benefits in the form of defined contribution plans, the post retirement medical aid (Note 2.17.5) and defined benefit 
plans.

An impairment loss is the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is defined as the higher of
in and value less cost to At each reporting date the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any

such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. 

The impairment losses are included in other operating expenses in the statement of comprehensive income. Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in
the non-financial assets recoverable amount can be objectively traced to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that
the carrying amount of the non-financial asset at the date after the impairment is reversed, should not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the
impairment not been recognised. The reversal of the impairment loss is recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income. Property, plant and
equipment is subject to an impairment review if there are events or changes in circumstance which indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

2.12. Finance leases
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2.15. Taxation

-
-
- 
-

-

-

- 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

2.16. Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease
liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments
as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate
implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the lessee uses its incremental borrowing rate being the rate that it can borrow funds from the Group
Treasury function.

The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate;

Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect of current and prior periods
exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the tax authorities, using
the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

A deferred tax asset / liability is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. A deferred tax asset / liability is not recognised when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction at the time of the transaction and affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

2.15.1. Current tax assets and liabilities

2.15.2. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

The Group did not make any such adjustments during the periods presented. The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease
liability, lease payments made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased
asset, restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is
recognised and measured under IAS 37. To the extent that the costs relate to a right-of use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless
those costs are incurred to produce inventories. 

The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and 
Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease. The lease liability is presented as a
separate line in the statement of financial position. The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the
lease liability and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group re-measures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification. 

Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a
change in a variable interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used); and

The Group as a lessee
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2.17.1. Group as a Lessor

-

-

-

-

2.17.2. Impairment of financial assets

-

-

-

Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying
asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease. The right-of-use assets are presented as part of property, plant
and equipment (see note 10). The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss as
per the accounting standard. Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and the right-of-use
asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs. 

2.17. Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

In preparing the financial statements, management makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities. Estimates,
assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Unless stated otherwise the judgements applied by management in applying the accounting policies are
consistent with the prior year. Included below are all the critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements made by the Group, except those related to
fair value measurement which are included in note 26.

Within data-rich portfolios, impairment parameters are estimated using statistical analysis performed on homogeneous groups of accounts. Accounts are
grouped at a portfolio level at a minimum, but more granular groupings are applied where specific sub- segments of the portfolio are expected to behave
differently and where sufficient data is available for more granular modelling to be performed.

Determining criteria for SICR, ECL is measured as an allowance equal to a 12-month ECL for Stage 1 assets, or a lifetime ECL for Stage 2 or Stage 3 assets.
An asset moves to Stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition and to Stage 3 when it becomes non-performing, which
includes accounts in business rescue, debt review, liquidation and sequestration;

In determining whether an impairment loss should be recognised, the Group makes judgements as to whether there is observable data indicating a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans. The objective of the measurement of an impairment loss is to produce a

The Group adopted the PD/LGD approach to calculate ECL for loans and advances. The ECL is based on three macroeconomic scenarios incorporating a
base scenario, an upside scenario and a downside scenario, weighted by the probability of occurrence.

The lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the lessee by the end of the lease term;

Some of the major factors considered by the Group in making this determination include the following:

The Group accounts for Retail Lease assets as Finance Lease assets accounted for under Loans and Advances.

The lease term is for the major part of the economic life of the underlying asset even if title is not transferred;

Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL, judgement is applied in identifying the most appropriate model for each type of
asset, as well as for determining the assumptions used in these models, including assumptions that relate to key drivers of credit risk; and
Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward looking scenarios.

The lessee has the option to purchase the underlying asset at a price that is expected to be sufficiently lower than the fair value at the date the option
becomes exercisable for it to be reasonably certain, at the inception date, that the option will be exercised;

Regression modelling techniques are used to determine which borrower and transaction characteristics are predictive of certain behaviours, based on
relationships observed in historical data related to the group of accounts to which the model will be applied. This results in the production of models that are
used to predict impairment parameters (PD, LGD, and EAD) based on the predictive characteristics identified through the regression process.

When impairments are calculated, each exposure is assigned unique impairment parameters (a PD, LGD and EAD) based on that individual
characteristics. These account-level impairment parameters are then used to calculate account-level expected credit losses.

The extent of the ECL allowance for financial assets measured at amortised cost is calculated using complex models and significant assumptions about
future economic conditions and credit behaviour. Further significant judgements are necessary in applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECL,
such as:

2.17.2.1. Expected Credit Losses

2.16. Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

At the inception date, the present value of the lease payments amounts to at least substantially all of the fair value of the underlying asset,
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2.17.2.1.1. Measurement of the 12-month and LECL Retail loans and advances

2.17.2.1.2. Measurement of the 12-month and LECL Wholesale advances

2.17. Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

Parameters are calibrated for the calculation of 12-month and LECL using term structures that consider account age, historical behaviour, transaction
characteristics and correlations between parameters. Term structures have been developed over the entire remaining lifetime of an instrument. Expected
credit losses on open accounts are discounted from the expected date of default to the reporting date using the original effective interest rate or a
reasonable approximation thereof.

2.17.2.1.3. Determination of whether the credit risk of financial instruments have increased significantly since initial recognition

The statistical models applied implicitly assume that risk drivers that influence default risk, payment behaviour and recovery expectations within the historical
data will continue to be relevant in the future. Parameters are calibrated for the calculation of 12-month and LECL using term structures that consider account
age, historical behaviour, transaction characteristics and correlations between parameters.

Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements

2.17.2.2. Forward-looking information

Parameters are determined based on the application of statistical models that produce estimates on the basis of counterparty-specific financial information
and transaction characteristics including the nature of available collateral. Due to the specialised nature of these exposures, parameters produced by models
are taken through a robust review and challenge process before being applied to calculate expected credit losses and are required to be signed off by a
committee of wholesale credit experts. 

Parameters are determined on a pooled basis, with exposures pooled on a portfolio level at a minimum. Where appropriate, more granular pooling is applied.
The inputs used to determine parameter values include historically observed behaviour as well as behavioural and demographic information related to
individual exposures currently on book.

IFRS 9 contains a rebuttable presumption that credit risk has increased significantly when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due. This means
that where payments are 30 days past due, the financial asset needs to migrate from stage 1 to stage 2. Instead of rebutting this presumption, the Group
views that where the customer and the Group have agreed to a deferral of payment for a specified period, that such an extension will not trigger the counting
of days past due.

LGDs are determined by estimating expected future cash flows, including costs and proceeds from sale of collateral, based on historically observed
outcomes.

EAD parameters are estimated based on product characteristics and historical draw-down and payment behaviour. 

Term structures have been developed over the entire remaining lifetime of an instrument. Expected credit losses on open accounts are discounted from the

PD parameters are determined through assessment of the influence that various risk drivers have had on historical default rates.

FLI has been incorporated into the expected loss estimates through the application of quantitative modelling and expert judgement-based adjustments. The
process of incorporating the FLI into the expected loss estimates has not changed since 31 March 2024, but there have been changes to the probabilities
assigned to the scenarios and the inputs used.

The macroeconomic scenarios are defined by taking global and domestic macroeconomic considerations into account, and forecasts are developed for
various scenarios by a forum of external economists who are independent of the credit and modelling functions. To arrive at the macroeconomic forecasts,
the micro and macroeconomic developments are assessed to formulate the macroeconomic forecasts and a probability is assigned to each scenario. ECL
results are then calculated as probability-weighted average results across multiple macroeconomic scenarios. The creation of macroeconomic scenarios and
the determination of associated probabilities are subjective, with final ECL results dependent on assumptions applied during the process.

Quantitative techniques applied estimate the impact of forecasted macroeconomic factors on expected credit losses using various techniques dependent on
the portfolio within which models will be applied.
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Scenario Probability

Baseline 60%
(2024: 56%)

Upside 15%
(2024:15%)

Downside 25%
(2024:29%)

Description

During the year, global economic growth and inflation continued to moderate. Central banks paused the aggressive interest rate hikes that they implemented
to stem inflation, resulting in a slight reduction in risk aversion in financial markets. However, uncertainty about the potential future extent of the expected
economic slowdown and possible interest rate cuts, combined with a significant increase in geopolitical risk, continued to drive market volatility. 
The war in Ukraine remains ongoing, and the conflict in Gaza continued to escalate, lifting regional and global geopolitical tensions. Although these tensions
remain important risk factors going forward, they did not translate into a significant macroeconomic impact for the economies in which the group operates
during the period under review.

South inflation remained above the central target range, but began to reduce slowly, resulting in interest rates remaining on hold. With interest
rates remaining at their cyclical peak, real economic activity continued to slow down, with domestic household consumption and corporate income being
impacted by high interest rates and inflation. Rolling blackouts were less severe than expected and commodity prices remained somewhat resilient for certain
key export commodities. However logistics bottlenecks continued to limit both export and import growth.

The global economy avoids a significant slowdown and geopolitical tensions continue to add to risk premia for risk assets
including, commodities;

GDP growth lifts meaningfully thanks to deployment of capital into renewable energy projects while other economic reforms
slowly begin to support economic activity;

Climate transition progresses slowly and meaningful implementation progress is made on the COP27 JETP implementation
plan;

Drought and water management targets progress meaningfully with pockets of the economy remaining more vulnerable than
others; and

Geo-economic fragmentation, including the Ukraine war, a regional war in the Middle East and conflict in the South China Sea,
drives headline inflation significantly higher and real disposable
income growth significantly lower;

South export competitiveness and trade volume growth deteriorate during the transitional and implementation phases of

Currency depreciation stalls the disinflation trend, together with sustained policy tightening bias with negative consequences for
financial conditions and risk appetite; and

The 2024 General Elections resulted in the formation of a Government of National Unity, which turned out to be a more market friendly result than was widely
expected. An increased probability of improvements in service delivery and economic reform momentum was reflected in financial market pricing for the
currency, government debt securities and other domestic risk assets including equities. Although we noted a slight improvement in economic reform
implementation before the election, and the election outcome has increased the probability of further progress, the election itself has not yielded tangible
economic reform developments. As such we continue to carefully monitor the economic environment for signs of economic reform progress.

premia for risk assets, including commodities; 
GDP growth lifts gradually as a result of the deployment of capital into renewable energy projects while other economic reforms

slowly begin to support economic activity;
election outcome does not result in a change on the status quo on policy and economic reforms. Policy makers

and the private sector do not make meaningful progress with structural reforms;
Climate transition progresses slowly amid lack of agreement and progress on the COP27 Energy Transition Partnerships

(JETP) implementation plan;

2.17. Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements

Within retail and wholesale portfolios, forward-looking ECL is modelled using regression-based techniques that determine the relationship between key
macroeconomic factors and credit risk parameters (with industry considerations further applied in the case of wholesale portfolios) based on historically
observed correlations. Modelled correlations and macroeconomic variable weightings are adjusted on the basis of expert judgement to ensure that the
relationships between macroeconomic forecasts and risk parameters are intuitive and that ECL is reflective of forward-looking expectations of credit
performance.
Where the impact of forward-looking macroeconomic information on ECL is determined based on historical relationships between macro-economic
movements and default rates, and it is not expected for these relationships to hold under current macro-economic conditions, judgemental adjustments have
been made through post-model adjustments to ensure that relationships between macro-economic forecasts and ECL estimates are intuitive, with ECL
increasing where macroeconomic conditions are expected to worsen, and reflecting additional relevant information not catered for in the models. This
approach is followed across all portfolios.

2.17.2.2. FLI (continued)
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2026 2027 2026 2027 2026 2027

2.5 2.9 1.9 2.2 0.9 0.9

4.5 4.5 4.6 4.6 5.0 4.7

6.0 6.0 7.0 7.0 7.3 7.3

1.9 2.1 1.9 2.1 1.9 1.3

10.6 9.5 4.2 4.4 2.0 3.1

58.0 58.0 62.9 62.9 66.6 66.6

1.2 1.3 1.2 1.3 0.3 0.3

2.17.2.3. Post model adjustments

Real GDP

Baseline scenario Downside scenario

2.17.4. Vehicle residual value

The Group manages residual value risk through a robust residual value setting process combined with regular asset impairment reviews, referencing to
industry data available and taking the useful life of the asset into consideration. 

Household debt to 
income

South Africa

Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements

Measurement of the
12-month and
lifetime ECL (continued)

Upside scenario

Parameters are calibrated for the calculation of 12-month and lifetime ECL using term structures that consider borrower risk,
account age, historical behaviour, transaction characteristics and correlations between parameters.
Term structures have been developed over the entire remaining contractual lifetime of an instrument. ECL on open accounts are
discounted from the expected date of default to the reporting date using the original effective interest rate or a
reasonable approximation thereof.

CPI inflation (period end)

Employment growth

Judgment Retail Wholesale

House price index

Repo rate (period end)

Overview of forward-looking information included in the 31 March 2025 provisions

%

Real income growth

2.17.2.2. Forward-looking information (continued)

In addition to forward-looking macroeconomic information, other types of FLI, such as specific event risk, is taken into account in ECL estimates when
required. Furthermore, where there is uncertainty in respect of the respective ability to address specific trends or conditions due to inherent
limitations of modelling based on past performance, the timing of model updates and macroeconomic events, additional provisions via post-model
adjustments are made.

2.17. Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

The residual value risk in the GFV products gives rise to cash flows that are unlikely to meet SPPI given that these loans are non-recourse loans which will be
repaid from proceeds on the sale of the vehicles when the customer hands the vehicle back to TFSSA to settle the loan. The market value of these vehicles
varies with the market value of second hand vehicles which will result in these cash flows not always meeting the definition of SPPI. Ultimately whether the
potential losses or gains on these contracts are is a matter of judgement. Based on an assessment performed by TFSSA, it was concluded that
the residual risk on GFV products for instalment sale agreements is as at 31 March 2025. GFV products are therefore considered to meet the
SPPI criterion. 
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2.17.5. Defined post-employment medical aid liability

Significant assumptions

The liability derived by this valuation is dependent on the following assumptions:

-    Discount rate;

-    Health care cost inflation;

-    Mortality; and

-    Average retirement age.

Economic assumptions used 2025 2024

12.60% 14.50%

6.60% 8.40%

8.10% 9.90%

Sensitivity Analysis R'000 R'000 R'000

Discount rate 1% decrease Valuation 1% increase

18 965 16 917 15 208

2 382 2 277 2 182

Health care cost inflation

15 168 16 917 18 987

2 027 2 277 2 572

Mortality PA (90)-3 Valuation PA (90)-1

17 308 16 917 16 520

2 329 2 277 2 222

Average retirement age ARA-1 Valuation ARA+1

17 267 16 917 16 600

2 313 2 277 2 228

The medical aid plan is regulated by the Registrar of the Council of Medical Schemes respectively. In determining the year end liability, key actuarial
assumptions were used and these included the discount rate, healthcare cost inflation rate, mortality and average retirement age. Any change in these
assumptions will impact the year end liability. 

Medical inflation

Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements

Inflation rate plus 1.5%

Discount rate Nominal Government Bond Yield Curve rounded to nearest 0.25%

The valuation results are sensitive to changes in the underlying assumptions underpinning the discount rate. The effects of varying these assumptions are
illustrated below.

Each sensitivity analysis is based on changing one assumption while keeping all other remaining assumptions constant. In practice this is unlikely to occur,
and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. The sensitivity analysis has been calculated in terms of the projected unit credit method and
illustrates how the value of the liability would change in response to certain changes in actuarial assumptions.

Post-employment medical aid benefits are provided to certain employees as disclosed in the accounting policy note 2.14.

Inflation rate Difference between nominal and index linked bond yield curves plus 0.5% inflation risk 
premium.
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3.1. Standards and interpretations not yet effective

-

-
-
-

-
-
-

Requiring disclosures about management-defined performance measures; and

IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures

IFRS 19 enables eligible entities to provide reduced disclosures compared to the requirements in other IFRS accounting standards. Entities that elect IFRS
19 are still required to apply recognition, measurement and presentation requirements of other IFRS accounting standards. 

The Group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are mandatory for the accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2025 or later periods:

Adding new principles for groupings (aggregation and disaggregation of information).
The new standard is effective for annual periods commencing on or after 1 January 2027 and is expected to impact group presentation on its statement of
profit or loss, the extent of which is being assessed.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments

The financial liability is derecognised on the settlement date. It also introduces an accounting policy option to derecognise financial liabilities that are settled 
through an electronic payment system before settlement date if certain conditions are met,  

The new standard is effective for annual periods commencing on or after 1 January 2027 and is not expected to have an impact on Group annual financial
statements but will be evaluated for the company annual financial statements.

The contractual cash flow characteristics of financial assets include ESG - linked features and other similar contingent features,

IFRS 18 aims to improve financial reporting by:

Requiring additional defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss;

Additional disclosure requirements for financial assets and liabilities with contractual terms that reference a contingent event. 

The amendment to the classification and measurement of financial instrument clarify that:

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

IFRS 18 aims to improve how companies communicate in their financial statements, with a focus on information about financial performance in the statement
of profit or loss. IFRS 18 is accompanied by limited amendments to the requirements in IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows. 

The treatment of non-recourse assets and contractually linked instruments, and

The amendment is effective for annual periods commencing on or after 1 January 2026 and is not expected to have a significant impact on the annual
financial statements.

IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates - Lack of Exchangeability

An entity is impacted by the amendments when it has a transaction or an operation in a foreign currency that is not exchangeable into another currency at a
measurement date for a specified purpose.

A currency is exchangeable when there is an ability to obtain the other currency (with a normal administrative delay), and the transaction would take place
through a market or exchange mechanism that creates enforceable rights and obligations. 
The amendment is effective for period commencing on or after 1 January 2025 and it not expected to have a significant impact on the annual financial
statements.

3. New Standards and Interpretations

Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements

Group Group Company Company

2025 2024 2025 2024

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

4a

          386 093           245 122           386 093           245 122 

       6 217 790        5 647 966        6 217 071        5 647 831 

          252 699           392 810           252 699           392 810 

                      -                       -             44 155             13 958 

            20 077               5 296                       -                       - 

       6 876 659        6 291 194        6 900 018        6 299 721 

          (32 624)           (19 525)           (32 624)           (19 525)

        (741 213)         (689 593)         (741 213)         (689 593)

        (773 837)         (709 118)         (773 837)         (709 118)

Total interest income calculated using effective interest rate        6 102 822        5 582 076        6 126 181        5 590 603 

4b

          231 517           225 697           220 011           222 939 

            10 889             10 832             10 889             10 832 

          242 406           236 529           230 900           233 771 

5

       3 155 056        2 919 029        3 155 056        2 919 029 

            27 077             24 575             27 077             24 592 

          878 326           850 474           878 326           850 474 

                      -                       -           274 534             68 016 

          198 363             62 374                       -                       - 

              1 569               1 519               1 569               1 519 

       4 260 391        3 857 971        4 336 562        3 863 630 

6

            28 743             14 700             28 743             14 700 

            21 500             11 672             21 500             11 672 

              7 243               3 028               7 243               3 028 

          699 618           700 453           695 295           699 403 

          (22 126)           177 134           (22 126)           177 134 

          779 668           590 315           775 345           589 265 

          (56 424)           (55 511)           (56 424)           (55 511)

            (1 500)           (11 485)             (1 500)           (11 485)

          (25 368)             (1 258)           (25 368)             (1 258)

          (25 368)             (1 258)           (25 368)             (1 258)

702 993 713 895 698 670 712 845

Total fee and commission income

Interest expense 

Fee and commission income

 - Loans and advances fee income

 - Insurance sales commission income

Interest income calculated using effective interest rate
 - Retail lease 

 - Retail finance 

 - Wholesale 

 - Interest on intercompany class B notes & receivables

 - Interest on bank accounts 

Total finance charges earned

Fee and commission expense 

 - Retail lease 

 - Retail finance 

 Interest on financial liabilities by class: 
 - Interest expense - Bank loans

 - Interest expense - Interest related fees

 - Interest expense - Domestic Term Bonds

Total impairment charge on financial assets

 - Recoveries

Retail lease

Retail finance

 - Impairment (release) / charge

Wholesale

 - Impairment charge / (release) 

 - Write offs

 - Impairment charge / (release) 

 - Write offs

 - Modification gains

 Impairment charge on financial assets

 - Interest expense - Subsidiary

 - Interest expense - Asset backed securitisation

 - Interest expense - Lease liabilities

Total interest expense
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Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements

Group Group Company Company

2025 2024 2025 2024

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

7 Other income

Retail finance document fees             94 130             87 110             94 130             87 110 

Retail lease document fees               3 439               1 461               3 439               1 461 

Dividend income             53 313             58 966             53 313             80 699 

Operating lease fee income               1 642                       -               1 642                       - 

Servicer fee recovered from subsidiary (Refer to Note 27)                       -                       -             10 658               3 118 

Other               8 536             15 066               8 536             15 164 

Total other income           161 060           162 603           171 718           187 552 

8 Operating expenses

Auditor remuneration: External audit             10 289               8 774               9 836               8 489 

Auditor remuneration: Prior year under accrual                  665                  395                  665                  395 

Auditor remuneration: Non-audit services               2 024                  105               2 024                  105 

WesBank management fee (Note 27)           365 509           345 266           365 509           345 266 

Operating lease rentals               1 346               1 016               1 346               1 016 

Professional fees             71 283             87 887             67 683             86 980 

Staff and pension costs           165 052           160 023           165 052           160 023 

Defined contribution plan expense             10 670               9 841             10 670               9 841 

Bank Charges             12 926             12 924             12 913             12 916 

Depreciation (Note 10)               4 218               3 963               4 218               3 963 

Travel and Accommodation               3 526               3 200               3 534               3 200 

Advertising and Promotions             22 929             14 969             23 062             15 741 

Other             20 211               2 595             20 049               1 823 

Total operating expenses           690 648           650 958           686 561           649 758 

9 Taxation

Current tax           205 970           197 367           193 753           198 873 

Deferred tax             10 011              (8 237)             10 011              (8 237)

Income tax expense           215 981           189 130           203 764           190 636 

Reconciliation between accounting profit and tax expense 

Profit before taxation           852 256           758 384           807 006           785 693 

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 27% (2024: 27%)            230 109           204 764           217 892           212 137 

Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income:            (14 128)            (15 634)            (14 128)            (21 501)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1                  267                  287                  267                  287 

Income not subject to tax 2            (14 395)            (15 921)            (14 395)            (21 789)

Income tax expense           215 981           189 130           203 764           190 636 

1 This relates to legal and arranging fees for the SPV that cannot be deducted as these expenses are not directly attributed to the 
generation of taxable income.
2 This relates to exempt income in the form of dividends.
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10 Property, plant and equipment

Cost
Accumulated 
depreciation

Net book 
value

2025 Group and Company R'000 R'000

 Office furniture and equipment             5 708              (5 708)                     - 

 Right-of-use asset           21 092              (7 733)           13 359 

          26 800            (13 441)           13 359 

2024 Group and Company 

 Office furniture and equipment             5 708              (5 708)                     - 

 Right-of-use asset           21 092              (3 515)           17 577 

          26 800              (9 223)           17 577 

No items of property, plant or equipment are held as security for liabilities.

Group and company reconciliation
Opening 
balance

Additions Transfers Disposals Depreciation  Total

2025 Group and Company R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

 Office furniture and equipment                        -                       -                     -                     -                        -                     - 

 Right-of-use asset              17 577                     -                       -                     -              (4 218)           13 359 

             17 577                       -                     -                     -              (4 218)           13 359 

2024 Group and Company 

 Office furniture and equipment                   325                       -                     -               (325)                        -                     - 

 Right-of-use asset                   448             21 092                     -                     -              (3 963)           17 577 

                  773             21 092                     -               (325)              (3 963)           17 577 

Company Company
11 Investment in subsidiary (Refer to Note 27) 2025 2024

11.1 Investment in Subsidiary Note B R'000 R'000

Spartan House 2018 (RF) Limited           529 412         176 471 

11.2 Receivable from Subsidiary
Spartan House 2018 (RF) Limited              10 638             4 343 

Spartan House 2018 (RF) Limited has cash flow forecasts that indicate that the entity is expected to have sufficient cash flows to meet
all working capital and other obligations. Therefore Spartan House 2018 (RF) Limited is expected to have a low risk of default. 

Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements

Spartan House 2018 (RF) Limited was incorporated in South Africa and the principal activity of the Company is to acquire the right, title
and interest in participating assets in the Group in respect of one or more transactions. Funds are raised directly or indirectly through
the issue of the participating assets acquired. The ultimate risk and rewards reside with the Group and therefore Spartan House 2018
(RF) Limited is classified as a subsidiary and consolidated for accounting purposes. 

The Company invested in two tranches of Class B note issued by Spartan House 2018 (RF) Limited in August 2023 and July 2024. The
note is subordinated in favour of other creditors. The note is unlisted with a legal maturity date of 17 April 2028 and 17 July 2029. The
interest on the note is paid quarterly in arrears at a fixed rate of 12.14% and JIBAR plus 1.3% per annum for each tranche respectively. 

The receivable due from the subsidiary relates to the accrued interest on the Class B note due to the Company.
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12 Loans and advances

12.1 Analysis of Loans and advances per class

Group and Company

Gross loans 
and advances

Impairments 
 Net loans and 

advances
Gross loans 

and advances
Impairments 

 Net loans and 
advances

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Retail lease        3 908 423           (59 355)        3 849 068        2 423 560           (37 855)        2 385 705 

Retail finance      51 462 960      (2 159 438)      49 303 522      47 520 542      (2 181 564)      45 338 978 

Wholesale        4 369 934           (55 012)        4 314 922        3 897 410           (80 380)        3 817 030 

     59 741 317      (2 273 805)      57 467 512      53 841 512      (2 299 799)      51 541 713 

12.2 Maturity analysis of retail leases

Group and Company

Loans and 
advances 
including 
unearned 
finances 
charges

Unearned 
finance 

charges

Loans and 
advances net 

of unearned 
finances 
charges

Loans and 
advances 
including 
unearned 
finances 
charges

Unearned 
finance 

charges

Loans and 
advances net 

of unearned 
finances 
charges

Due within 1 year           924 686         (163 003)           761 683           538 591           (96 492)           442 099 

Due between 1 and 2 years           920 818         (207 110)           713 708           901 358         (202 564)           698 794 

Due between 2 and 3 years        1 197 294         (263 020)           934 274           582 057         (132 551)           449 506 

Due between 3 and 4 years        1 750 070         (365 535)        1 384 535           985 449         (215 552)           769 897 

Due between 4 and 5 years           117 163           (27 382)             89 781             56 666           (13 304)             43 362 

Due after five years             31 962             (7 520)             24 442             26 027             (6 125)             19 902 

       4 941 993      (1 033 570)        3 908 423        3 090 148         (666 588)        2 423 560 

12.3 Reconciliation of gross loans and advances and expected credit losses

Basis of reconciliation preparation 

*Restated. Prior period disclosure was presented with all three instruments (retail lease, retail finance and wholesale). The Group has 
corrected the disclosure in the current financial year by only presenting the retail lease as required by IFRS 16. 

This error did not have an impact on the primary financial statements.

All new business is included in the change in exposure due to new business in the current year based on the impairment
stage at the end of the reporting period. Therefore, exposures in the new business lines can be reported in stage 3 at the end of the
reporting date.

Current year ECL (provided) / released relates to:
- an (increase) / decrease in the carrying amount during the current financial year, and 
- an (increase) / decrease in the risk associated with the opening balance.
The current year movement in the ECL for stage 2 advances is also split between exposure where there has been a change in the
measurement basis from 12 months to lifetime ECL and other changes. 

The reconciliation of the gross loans and advances and the expected credit losses have been prepared using a year to date view.
This means the group reports exposures based on the impairment stage at the end of the reporting period. 

The current year movements of the opening balances are included in changes in exposure and net movement on gross carrying
amounts and the ECL provided / (released) are reflected separately in the reconciliation. 

- new business originated during the financial year, 
- the transfers between stages of the new origination, and 
- any settlements. 

New business is broadly defined as any financing issued to a new or existing customer during the current financial year.

The movement in gross loans and advances is the net amount of:

2025 2024

2025 2024*
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Toyota Financial Services (South Africa) Limited
(Registration number 1982/010082/06)
Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements

12 Loans and advances (continued)

12.4 Modified loans and advances

Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

2025 Group and Company R'000 R'000 R'000

Modified loans and advances 651 617 536 320 1 187 937

2024 Group and Company 

Modified loans and advances 519 932 505 996 1 025 928

12.5 Credit impairment by product Retail lease Retail finance Wholesale Total

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

2025 Group and Company 

Balance at 1 April 2024             37 855        2 181 564             80 380        2 299 799 

Movement in impairments             21 500            (22 126)            (25 368)            (25 994)

Balance at  31 March 2025             59 355        2 159 438             55 012        2 273 805 

2024 Group and Company 

Balance at 1 April 2023             26 183        2 004 430             81 638        2 112 251 

Movement in impairments             11 672           177 134              (1 258)           187 548 

Balance at  31 March 2024             37 855        2 181 564             80 380        2 299 799 

The amortised cost of the exposures before modifications for the 12 month period ended 31 March 2025 amounted to R460 700
428 (FY2024: R420 878 626)

During the current and prior financial years no accounts were reclassified from Stage 2 and 3 to Stage 1.

Where the modification did not result in a modification gain or loss being recognised, the modifications would not be disclosed
below.

The following table provides information on loans and advances that were modified while they had a loss allowance measured at
an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses and the modification resulted in a modification gain or loss being recognised.

Post-Modification
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12 Loans and advances (continued)

12.6 Components of Retail Finance and Lease ECL

2025 2024

Group and Company R'000 R'000

- Forward-looking information1          (225 389)          (223 325)

- Post-model adjustments2          (200 587)          (325 537)

1 Forward-looking information

2 Post Model Adjustments

a) Taxi 

b) Probability of Restructure Overlay

c) Expired Accounts

d) Loss Given Restructure (LGR) Top Up

a) LGW Overlay

b)  FLI overlay

c) Juristic Overlay

LGD overlay catered for the over and under-predictions on the base LGD model across all stages while LGW overlay considers
the more recent experience of realised losses that is higher than the through the cycle view in the model.

This represents FLI macro information into the ECL calculations specifically around the uncertainty of economic recovery, which
was further exacerbated by the high interest rate, although the outlook is for a series of moderate cuts, inflation and the overall
above average increases in the cost of goods and services which could negatively affect payment behaviour going forward.

Post-model adjustments include:
Adjustments made on the basis of constrained expert judgement to allow for macroeconomic impacts not adequately captured by
existing statistical models. This was calculated through application of expert judgement-based weightings to macroeconomic
factors within the existing FLI methodology.

An overlay to accounted for changes in macroeconomic factors not captured in the model with specific reference to rising interest
rates.

This covered the increased concentration exposure we have to Juristic population, which is higher than historical levels and
comes from non-repeat customers, with smaller companies, that have limited operation history and turnover.

Set out below are other components of ECL related to FLI and Post-model adjustments

This overlay is introduced given the increased credit risk, operational risk and governance risk in the Taxi industry and caters for
the existing book and its deteriorating performance.

This is for additional risk for the increase in the debt counselling book within the portfolio.

Accounts that have expired for greater than 90 days are in technical NPL, and their coverage is amended as such.

As the model does not capture the full loss experienced in restructured accounts, this adjustment is calculated and accounted for.
This has been in place since the inception of the IFRS 9 model.

The elements below have been incorporated in the Post Model Adjustments:

Although not applicable to the current financial year, the below post-model adjustments were taken into account in the prior
financial year:
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12 Loans and advances (continued)

12.7 Sensitivity Analysis

12.7.1 Stressed SICR impact

5% increase in 
gross loans 

and advances

Increase in 
ECL due to 

5% increase in 
SICR

R'000 R'000
Retail lease           289 121                  898 

Retail finance        1 882 435               5 844 

Total increase in stage 2 advances and ECL        2 171 556               6 742 

13 Regulatory Provision
2025 2024

Group and Company R'000 R'000

Opening balance 40 000            -                      

Movement 10 500            40 000            

Closing balance 50 500            40 000            

The Group operates in a complex regulated environment and continues to review processes that could have a potential impact on
customers. The reviews and outcomes thereof are uncertain, quantification is complex, and require thorough consideration for
resolution.

As outlined in the accounting policies, when there is a SICR since initial recognition, the exposure is moved from stage 1 to stage
2 and the ECL is calculated based on lifetime expected credit losses.

The move from 12-month expected credit loss to lifetime expected credit loss can result in a substantial increase in ECL. The
sensitivity information provided in the table below details the additional ECL charge that the Group would need to recognise if 5%
of the gross carrying amount of loans and advances suffered a SICR and were moved from stage 1 to stage 2 as at 31 March
2025. A 5% increase in loans and advances categorised as stage 2 can be viewed as a reasonably possible alternative based on
the current economic conditions.
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14 Deferred tax 

2025 Group and Company 

Tax effect of temporary differences Profit or loss Equity

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Leases and wear and tear       (147 630)         (93 820)                       -         (241 450)

Impairments         248 748             2 480                       -          251 228 

Fair value of other investments         (13 352)                     -               1 353           (11 999)

Accrual for leave pay and bonus           10 912             1 134                       -            12 046 

Deferred income           39 492             5 879                       -            45 371 

Deferred employee benefit liability             4 081                396                    91              4 568 

Finance leases         113 122           79 688                       -          192 810 

Right of use asset           (4 746)             1 139                       -             (3 607)

Lease liability             5 081              (885)                       -              4 196 

Other           19 564           (6 022)                       -            13 542 

        275 272         (10 011)               1 444          266 705 

2024 Group and Company 

Profit or loss Equity

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Leases and wear and tear       (102 472)         (45 158)                       -         (147 630)

Impairments          243 479             5 269                       -          248 748 

Fair value of other investments            (6 508)                     -              (6 844)           (13 352)

Accrual for leave pay and bonus             8 769             2 143                       -            10 912 

Deferred income           33 450             6 042                       -            39 492 

Deferred employee benefit liability             3 949                322                 (190)              4 081 

Finance leases           75 141           37 981                       -          113 122 

Right of use asset              (121)           (4 625)                       -             (4 746)

Lease liability                173             4 908                       -              5 081 

Other           18 209             1 355                       -            19 564 

        274 070             8 237              (7 034)          275 272 

  Opening 
balance  

Movement
Closing 
balance

Movement

The Group performs an annual Going Concern assessment (see Note 31) in which it assess future profitability and the ability for the
business to continue into the future.

The Group's budget for FY2026 indicates that the Group is expected to be profitable in the future. Management has stressed the
budget for the continued impact of the current economic uncertainty and confirms that the Group remains profitable. For this reason, a
deferred tax asset was recognised.

Closing 
balance

  Opening 
balance  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in the Statement of Financial position as they relate to taxation payable in the
same tax jurisdiction.
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Group Group Company Company

2025 2024 2025 2024

15 Trade and other receivables R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Trade receivables             24 328               6 375             24 328               6 387 

VAT receivable               9 200               4 413               9 417               4 290 

Servicer fees                       -                       -               3 108               6 415 

Total trade and other receivables             33 528             10 788             36 853             17 092 

16 Current tax payable / receivable and tax paid

Opening (receivable) / payable            (31 720)             23 816            (16 228)             24 903 

Current tax charge           205 970           197 367           193 753           198 873 

Current tax (payable) / receivable             37 590             31 720             30 134             16 228 

Tax paid / (received)           211 840           252 903           207 659           240 004 

Current tax receivables are subject to assessment and approval by the tax authority.

17 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash and bank balances           400 834           128 350                  839               2 192 

Total cash and cash equivalents           400 834           128 350                  839               2 192 

18 Share capital and share premium 2025 2024
R'000 R'000

Group and Company

Authorised

6 000 ordinary shares of R1 each                      6                      6 

Issued

4 695 ordinary shares of R1 each (fully paid)                      5                      5 

Share premium

200 shares at a premium of R149 999 each             30 000             30 000 

4 200 shares at a premium of R99 999 each           419 995           419 995 

195 shares at a premium of R999 999 each           195 000           195 000 

          644 995           644 995 

Management consider the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents to approximate fair value. The ECL is immaterial. 

There was no change to the issued share capital of the Group during the year. The authorised but unissued shares are under the
control of the existing shareholders. The share premium account is regarded as permanent capital of the Group and is not
available for distribution. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Group's residual assets.

Trade and other receivables comprises of short term trade receivables, VAT receivables and servicer fees receivable from the
subsidiary. Management have reviewed the recoverability of trade receivables and regard them to have a low risk of default. The
carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximate fair value. The ECL on trade and other receivables is immaterial.

Holders of these shares are entitled to dividends when declared and one vote per share at general meetings of the Group.
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19 Other investments

2025 2024
Group and Company R'000 R'000

Gross fair value of insurance cell 49 452            24 104            

Deferred tax (13 352)          (6 508)            

Opening balance of equity reserve 36 100            17 596            

Gross fair value gain of insurance cell for the year (5 011)            25 348            

Deferred tax 1 353              (6 844)            

Movements for the year (3 658)            18 504            

Gross fair value of insurance cell 44 441            49 452            

Deferred tax (11 999)          (13 352)          

Closing balance of equity reserve 32 442            36 100            

Movement in other comprehensive income              (3 658)             18 504 

Fair value              (5 011)             25 348 

Deferred tax               1 353              (6 844)

20 Borrowings

2025 Group and Company 

Counterparty Interest type R'000 R'000 R'000

ABSA Bank Fixed           800 000                       -           800 000 

ABSA Bank Variable        1 200 000                       -        1 200 000 

Bank of China South Africa Variable                       -           500 000           500 000 

Citibank Variable           750 000           300 000        1 050 000 

Deutsche Bank South Africa Variable        1 500 000                       -        1 500 000 

Japan Bank of International Cooperation Fixed           420 000           600 000        1 020 000 

Mizuho Bank Fixed           200 000        1 400 000        1 600 000 

Mizuho Bank Variable                       -           700 000           700 000 

Momentum Asset Management SA Variable                       -           200 000           200 000 

Momentum Metropolitan Life SA Variable                       -           300 000           300 000 

MUFG Bank Fixed           200 000        1 850 000        2 050 000 

FirstRand Bank Limited Fixed           500 000                       -           500 000 

FirstRand Bank Limited Variable           500 000        1 900 000        2 400 000 

Sumitomo Mitsui Bank Corporation Europe Fixed        1 380 000        4 800 000        6 180 000 

Sumitomo Mitsui Bank Corporation Europe Variable           900 000        2 350 000        3 250 000 

Standard Chartered Bank Fixed        1 200 000                       -        1 200 000 

Standard Chartered Bank Variable           300 000                       -           300 000 

Standard Bank Fixed                       -        1 000 000        1 000 000 

Standard Bank Variable        2 500 000        1 000 000        3 500 000 

Toyota Motor Finance Netherlands B.V Variable                       -        1 700 000        1 700 000 

Toyota Motor Finance Netherlands B.V Fixed        1 400 000        3 050 000        4 450 000 

Domestic Term Bonds Variable        1 427 000        7 698 000        9 125 000 

     15 177 000      29 348 000      44 525 000 

Sumitomo Mitsui Bank Corporation Europe Fixed           229 000           477 000           706 000 

Citibank Variable           355 771        1 361 729        1 717 500 

     15 761 771      31 186 729      46 948 500 

Other investments relate to an investment in HBA. This was created as a partnership with Hollard to house the insurance
products. Dividends are received on a bi-annual basis and disclosed in note 7. This equity investment is carried at fair value through
other comprehensive income.

Total

Split by maturity
Less than 1 

year
More than 1 

year
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20 Borrowings (continued)

2024 Group and Company 

Counterparty Interest type R'000 R'000 R'000

ABSA Bank Fixed                400 000              800 000        1 200 000 

ABSA Bank Variable                600 000              600 000        1 200 000 

Bank of China South Africa Variable                            -              500 000           500 000 

Citibank Variable                900 000           1 050 000        1 950 000 

Deutsche Bank South Africa Fixed                750 000                         -           750 000 

Japan Bank of International Cooperation Fixed                300 000           1 020 000        1 320 000 

Mizuho Bank Fixed                500 000           1 600 000        2 100 000 

Mizuho Bank Variable                600 000              700 000        1 300 000 

Momentum Asset Management SA Variable                            -              200 000           200 000 

Momentum Metropolitan Life SA Variable                            -              300 000           300 000 

MUFG Bank Fixed                400 000              200 000           600 000 

FirstRand Bank Limited Fixed                            -              500 000           500 000 

FirstRand Bank Limited Variable                            -           2 400 000        2 400 000 

Sumitomo Mitsui Bank Corporation Europe Fixed             2 300 000           3 380 000        5 680 000 

Sumitomo Mitsui Bank Corporation Europe Variable                            -           1 400 000        1 400 000 

Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank Variable                600 000                         -           600 000 

Standard Chartered Bank Fixed                300 000           1 200 000        1 500 000 

Standard Chartered Bank Variable             1 200 000              300 000        1 500 000 

Standard Bank Variable                500 000           2 500 000        3 000 000 

Toyota Motor Finance Netherlands B.V Variable                            -           1 200 000        1 200 000 

Toyota Motor Finance Netherlands B.V Fixed             1 250 000           3 000 000        4 250 000 

Domestic Term Bonds Variable             2 027 000           7 925 000        9 952 000 

          12 627 000         30 775 000      43 402 000 

Sumitomo Mitsui Bank Corporation Europe Fixed                229 000              706 000           935 000 

          12 856 000         31 481 000      44 337 000 

Short Term Borrowings

2025 Group and Company Interest type

*Bank Overdraft Variable             2 842 184                         - 2 842 184       

2024 Group and Company

*Bank Overdraft Variable             1 243 901                         - 1 243 901       

Total

Split by maturity

Less than 1 year
More than 1 

year

The overdraft facility is unsecured, repayable on demand and is used as a form of short term financing. The average interest rate on
overdraft facilities is 8.8% (FY2024: 9.1%). The bank overdraft is separately disclosed on the statement of financial position. 

*Restated. Refer to note 32

Split by maturity

Less than 1 year
More than 1 

year
Total

As per Group policy, the overdraft is not allowed to enter a positive balance, thus it does not meet the definition of cash and cash
equivalents.
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20 Borrowings (continued)

Type of loan 2025 2024

R'000 R'000
Fixed rate loans

Unsecured loans Due within 1 year  5.13% - 10.21%        6 100 000        6 200 000 

Unsecured loans
Due more than 1 
year

 6.92% - 10.56%      12 700 000      11 700 000 

     18 800 000      17 900 000 

Fixed rate loans 

Due within 1 year 10.16%           229 000           229 000 

Due more than 1 
year

10.16%           477 000           706 000 

19 506 000    18 835 000    

Variable rate loans (linked to 1 month JIBAR, 3 month JIBAR or Prime interest rates)

Domestic Medium Term Note

- Secured Bonds Due within 1 year + 101bps - 104bps        1 427 000        2 027 000 

- Secured Bonds
Due more than 1 
year

+  85bps - 122bps        7 698 000        7 925 000 

Unsecured loans Due within 1 year + 90 bps - 140 bps        7 650 000        4 400 000 

Unsecured loans
Due more than 1 
year

+ 74 bps - 166 bps        8 950 000      11 150 000 

25 725 000    25 502 000    

44 525 000    43 402 000    

Variable rate loans

Due within 1 year + 110bps           355 771                       - 

Due more than 1 
year

+ 110bps        1 361 729                       - 

1 717 500      -                     

     46 948 500      44 337 000 

All borrowings are ZAR denominated.

Maturity dates  Average interest rates 

The Domestic Term Bonds were issued, under the established R10 billion Domestic Medium Term Note Programme
The security for the programme is provided by Toyota Motor Finance Netherlands B.V. in the form of a guarantee

under a credit support structure from Toyota Motor Corporation. The programme has been increased to a maximum of R20bn on
19 May 2025.

The Group completed a comprehensive analysis of all legal agreements covering current funding transactions. The key covenant
is the Debt to Equity ratio remaining at below 11.5 times, in line with the Shareholders agreement. The ratio as at 31 March 2025
is 9.8 times.

The loans from ABSA Bank, Bank of China South Africa, Citibank, FirstRand Bank Limited, Japan Bank of International
Coorporation, Mizuho Bank, MUFG Bank, Sumitomo Mitsui Bank Corporation Europe, Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Standard
Bank, Standard Chartered Bank, Deutsche Bank South Africa, Momentum Asset Management SA, Momentum Metropolitan Life
SA and Toyota Motor Finance Netherlands B.V are all ZAR-denominated, unsecured and payable on maturity date. Bank
borrowings are held at amortised cost.

During FY2025, the Group concluded an Asset Backed Securitisation loan (Tranche 4) for an initial amount R2.2 billion. Asset
backed securitisation loans are held at amortised cost.
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20 Borrowings (continued)

Effect of reference rate reform

21 Loan from subsidiary Company Company

2025 2024

Subsidiary R'000 R'000

Loan from Spartan House 2018 (RF) Limited    2 633 583        991 556 

22 Employee benefit liability 2025 2024

Group and Company R'000 R'000

Defined contribution plan

Pension contributions (included in staff costs) 10 670        9 841           

Defined post-employment medical aid liability

Present value of the defined benefit obligation - wholly unfunded 16 917        15 115         

Defined benefit liability

Balance as at 1 April         15 115          14 620 

Interest cost           2 131            1 801 

Service cost              175               164 

Benefit payments             (838)              (765)

Expected liability         16 583          15 820 

Actuarial loss due to a change in financial assumptions              126              (929)

Actuarial gain due to healthcare cost inflation             (139)                 43 

Actuarial gain due to membership movements              347               181 

Balance as at 31 March         16 917          15 115 

Movement in other comprehensive income             (243)               515 
Total actuarial (gain) / loss             (334)               705 
Deferred tax                91              (190)

23 Trade and other payables Group Group Company Company
2025 2024* 2025 2024

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000
Trade payables      578 016       532 118       533 837        512 868 
Toyota South Africa Motors (Pty) Limited   2 318 385       806 761    2 318 385        806 761 
Accrued expenses        83 076         83 121         83 258          88 412 
Other                  -         32 803                   -          32 803 
Total trade and other payables   2 979 477    1 454 803    2 935 480     1 440 844 

The amount owing to Toyota South African Motors (Pty) Limited relates to a 14 day facility for the purchase of vehicles within the
wholesale portfolio (refer to note 27).

Loans and advances with a carrying amount of R2 633 582 901 (FY2024: R991 555 901) were pledged as security for borrowings
(refer to note 12 for loans and advances). The average tenor of the collateralised loans and advances is 47 months and the average
interest rate is 12.67% (FY2024: 12.93%). The intercompany loan is classified as a financial liability.

The JIBAR will be replaced by South African Rand Overnight Index Average Rate (ZARONIA). Prior to the choice of ZARONIA,
several proposed alternative reference rates and calculation methodologies were released by the SARB. However, following an
observation period between 1 November 2022 and 31 October 2023 ZARONIA was identified and endorsed as the successor to
JIBAR. The SARB has indicated that JIBAR cessation is likely to take place at the end of 2026. It will confirm the cessation date in
December 2025. There are several notable milestones in the lead-up to cessation, which are contained in the industry timeline
published by the SARB. These include ZARONIA first for derivatives in November 2024, ZARONIA first for the cash market in June
2025 and new scheduled for March 2026. The group currently has a number of contracts which reference JIBAR. The

South African rates reform steering committee will apply the same transitioning policies to affected JIBAR contracts as those
it effected for interbank offered rates.

Management considers the carrying amounts of trade and other payables to approximate fair value. Adequate funding has been
secured to ensure that the Group is able to pay its general operating expenditure within the normal course of business.
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24 Leases

Group and Company 2025 2024
24.1 Right-of-use asset R'000 R'000

Cost at 1 April               21 092              13 441 
Accumulated depreciation              (3 515)            (12 993)

Carrying value at 1 April              17 577                   448 
New leases                        -              21 092 
Depreciation charge for the year              (4 218)              (3 963)

Carrying value at 31 March              13 359              17 577 

24.2 Lease liabilities
Balance as at 1 April             (18 818)                 (638)
New leases                        -            (21 092)
Interest charged for the period              (1 569)              (1 519)
Repayment                4 847                4 431 

Balance as at 31 March            (15 540)            (18 818)

Split between non-current and current portions 
Non-current lease liabilities              11 549              15 540 

Current lease liabilities                3 991                3 278 

             15 540              18 818 
Maturity analysis of minimum lease payments
Year 1                5 235                4 847 
Year 2                5 654                5 235 
Year 3                6 106                5 654 
Year 4                1 030                6 106 
Year 5 onwards                        -                1 030 

Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 2025 2024
Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets                4 218                3 963 
Interest expense on lease liabilities                1 569                1 519 
Expense relating to leases of low value assets                   145                   241 

25 Cash utilised by operating activities Group Group Company Company

2025 2024 2025 2024
R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

852 256          758 384          807 006          785 693          

(6 102 822)      (5 582 076)      (6 126 181)      (5 590 603)      

4 260 391       3 857 971       4 336 562       3 863 630       
759 417          769 406          755 094          768 356          

(56 424)           (55 511)           (56 424)           (55 511)           

(53 313)           (58 966)           (53 313)           (80 699)           

4 218              3 963              4 218              3 963              

(Decrease) / increase in Regulatory Provision 10 500            40 000            10 500            40 000            

(325 777)         (266 829)         (322 538)         (265 171)         

Net debt Group Group Company Company
2025 2024 2025 2024

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Borrowings (Excl bank overdraft)     (46 948 500)     (44 337 000)     (44 525 000)     (43 402 000)

Lease liabilities            (15 540)            (18 818)            (15 540)            (18 818)

Loans from subsidiary                        -                        -       (2 633 583)          (991 556)

Net debt     (46 964 040)     (44 355 818)     (47 174 123)     (44 412 374)

The Group leases a head office building with a remaining lease term of less than 4 years (FY2024: 5 years). The

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities. All lease obligations are denominated in South
African Rands.

Profit before taxation

Interest and similar income

Interest expense and similar charges
Impairment

Write offs recovered

Dividends received

Depreciation

Net cash utilised by operating activities
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25 Cash utilised by operating activities (continued)

Borrowings Leases Total

R'000 R'000 R'000

Balance at 1 April 2023    (37 727 000)                  (638)       (37 727 638)

Cash flow movements

Financing cash flows inflows    (16 795 000)             (21 092)       (16 816 092)

Financing cash flows outflows      10 185 000                 2 912        10 187 912 

Interest payments (presented as operating cash flows)        3 944 366                 1 519          3 945 885 
Non cash flow movements

Movement in Interest accrual           (87 914)                        -              (87 914)

Interest expense      (3 856 452)               (1 519)         (3 857 971)

Balance at 1 April 2024    (44 337 000)             (18 818)       (44 355 818)

Cash flow movements

Financing cash flows inflows    (13 617 500)                        -       (13 617 500)

Financing cash flows outflows      11 006 000                 3 278        11 009 278 

Interest payments (presented as operating cash flows)        4 270 939                 1 569          4 272 508 

Non cash flow movements

Movement in Interest accrual           (12 117)                        -              (12 117)

Interest expense      (4 258 822)               (1 569)         (4 260 391)

Balance at 31 March 2025    (46 948 500)             (15 540)       (46 964 040)

Net Debt Reconciliation
Loans from 
Subsidiary

Borrowings Leases Total

Balance at 1 April 2023           (38 369)    (37 727 000)                  (638)       (37 766 007)

Cash flow movements

Financing cash flows inflows         (953 187)    (15 860 000)             (21 092)       (16 834 279)

Financing cash flows outflows                       -      10 185 000                 2 912        10 187 912 

Interest payments (presented as operating cash flows)             68 016        3 862 759                 1 519          3 932 294 
Non cash flow movements

Movement in Interest accrual                       -           (68 664)                        -              (68 664)

Interest expense           (68 016)      (3 794 095)               (1 519)         (3 863 630)

Balance at 1 April 2024         (991 556)    (43 402 000)             (18 818)       (44 412 374)

Cash flow movements

Financing cash flows inflows      (2 286 612)    (11 900 000) -                        (14 186 612)

Financing cash flows outflows           644 585      10 777 000                 3 278        11 424 863 

Interest payments (presented as operating cash flows)           274 534        4 047 648                 1 569          4 323 751 

Non cash flow movements

Movement in Interest accrual                       -             12 811                        -               12 811 

Interest expense         (274 534)      (4 060 459)               (1 569)         (4 336 562)

Balance at 31 March 2025      (2 633 583)    (44 525 000)             (15 540)       (47 174 123)

Net Debt Reconciliation

Company

Group
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26 Financial risk management

26.1 Credit risk management

Net Loans and receivables  Retail lease Retail finance   Wholesale   Total 

2025 Group and Company  R'000  R'000  R'000  R'000 

Loans and advances

Stage 1             3 212 304            43 519 801           3 932 823         50 664 928 

Stage 2                602 876              4 163 264              382 099           5 148 239 

Stage 3                  33 888              1 620 457                          -           1 654 345 

Total loans and advances             3 849 068            49 303 522           4 314 922         57 467 512 

2024 Group and Company 
Loans and advances

Stage 1             1 879 580            39 625 729           3 384 731         44 890 040 

Stage 2                491 754              4 274 819              432 299           5 198 872 

Stage 3                  14 371              1 438 430                          -           1 452 801 

Total loans and advances             2 385 705            45 338 978           3 817 030         51 541 713 

2025 Group and Company TFS1-25 TFS26-90 TFS91-100 Total
 R'000  R'000  R'000  R'000 

Stage 1                719 130            50 279 091                  7 364         51 005 585 

Stage 2                        585              3 999 153           1 790 509           5 790 247 

Stage 3                            -                             -           2 945 485           2 945 485 

Total                719 715            54 278 244           4 743 358         59 741 317 

2024 Group and Company TFS1-25 TFS26-90 TFS91-100 Total

 R'000  R'000  R'000  R'000 

Stage 1                233 224            45 038 851                16 071         45 288 146 

Stage 2                            -              3 631 324           2 177 495           5 808 819 

Stage 3                            -                             -           2 744 547           2 744 547 
Total                233 224            48 670 175           4 938 113         53 841 512 

International scale mapping (based S&P)*

AAA to BBB (upper)

The Group aims to optimise the amount of credit risk it takes to achieve its profitability objectives. Mitigation of credit risk is an important
component of this, beginning with the structuring and approval of facilities within parameters that fall in the Group's risk appetite.
Although, in principle, credit assessment focuses on the ability to repay the debt, credit mitigation instruments are used
where appropriate to reduce the lending risk, which results in security against the majority of exposures. These consist of
financial or other collateral and the portfolios in the group are secured by the underlying assets financed.

The Group employs strict policies governing the valuation and management of collateral across all business areas. Collateral is
managed internally to ensure that title is retained over collateral taken over the life of the transaction. Collateral is valued at inception of
the credit agreement and subsequently, where necessary, through physical inspection or index valuation methods. For wholesale
counterparties, collateral is reassessed during the annual review of the creditworthiness to ensure that proper title is
retained. 
Physical inspection is performed at the beginning of the recovery process. For asset finance, the total security reflected represents only
the realisation value estimates of the vehicles repossessed at the date of repossession. Where the repossession has not yet occurred,
the realisation value of the vehicle is estimated using internal models and is included as part of total recoveries.

TFS Rating

1-25

Collateral is taken into account for capital calculation purposes through the determination of LGD. Collateral reduces LGD, and LGD
levels are determined through statistical modelling techniques based on historical experience of the recovery processes.

BBB to BCCC+26-90

CCC to D (defaulted)
* Indicative mapping to the international rating scales of S&P Global Ratings (S&P). 
The following table shows the gross carrying amount of advances carried at amortised cost, as well as the exposure to credit risk per
class of advance and per internal credit rating. 

91-100
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26 Financial risk management (continued)

26.1 Credit risk management (continued)

2025 Group

Gross carrying 
amount

Loss allowance
Maximum 

exposure to 
credit risk

Unsecured Secured*

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Loans and advances       59 741 317            (2 273 805)            57 467 512                          -         57 467 512 

Trade and other receivables              33 528                            -                   33 528                33 528                          - 

Cash and cash equivalents            400 834                            -                 400 834              400 834                          - 

      60 175 679            (2 273 805)            57 901 874              434 362         57 467 512 

2025 Company 

Gross carrying 
amount

Loss allowance
Maximum 

exposure to 
credit risk

Unsecured Secured*

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Loans and advances       59 741 317            (2 273 805)            57 467 512                          -         57 467 512 

Investment in subsidiary            529 412                            -                 529 412              529 412                          - 

Receivable from subsidiary              10 638                            -                   10 638                10 638                          - 

Trade and other receivables              36 853                            -                   36 853                36 853                          - 

Cash and cash equivalents                   839                            -                        839                     839                          - 

      60 319 059            (2 273 805)            58 045 254              577 742         57 467 512 

2024 Group

Gross carrying 
amount

Loss allowance
Maximum 

exposure to 
credit risk

Unsecured Secured*

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Loans and advances       53 841 512            (2 299 799)            51 541 713                          -         51 541 713 

Trade and other receivables              10 788                            -                   10 788                10 788                          - 

Cash and cash equivalents            128 350                            -                 128 350              128 350                          - 

      53 980 650            (2 299 799)            51 680 851              139 138         51 541 713 

2024 Company 

Gross carrying 
amount

Loss allowance
Maximum 

exposure to 
credit risk

Unsecured Secured*

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Loans and advances       53 841 512            (2 299 799)            51 541 713                          -         51 541 713 

Investment in subsidiary**            176 471                            -                 176 471              176 471                          - 

Receivable from subsidiary                4 343                            -                     4 343                  4 343                          - 

Trade and other receivables              17 092                            -                   17 092                17 092                          - 

Cash and cash equivalents                2 192                            -                     2 192                  2 192                          - 

      54 041 610            (2 299 799)            51 741 811              200 098         51 541 713 

* Secured represents balances which have non-financial collateral attached to the financial asset. 
**

The table below represents the maximum exposure to credit risk for financial assets as well as a breakdown of collateral held against
the exposure. 

Restated. Investment in subsidiary was presented as secured in the previous financial year. This has been corrected in the current
financial year. The error did not have an impact on the primary financial statements.
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26 Financial risk management (continued)

26.1 Credit risk management (continued)

2025 Group and Company 

Wholesale Exposure size
Number of 
counter-
parties

Total exposure 
per grouping

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

 R'm R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

R0 - R200                     76             1 878 067              1 462 061              416 005                          - 

R200 - R500                       2             1 063 857              1 063 857                          -                          - 

R500 - R750                       1                535 091                 535 091                          -                          - 

R750+                       2                892 918                 892 918                          -                          - 

                    81             4 369 934              3 953 929              416 005                          - 

2024 Group and Company *

Wholesale Exposure size
Number of 
counter-
parties

Total exposure 
per grouping

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

 R'm R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

R0 - R200                     75             1 794 568              1 325 452              469 116                          - 

R200 - R500                       2                782 565                 782 565                          -                          - 

R500 - R750                       1                526 640                 526 640                          -                          - 

R750+                       2                793 637                 793 637                          -                          - 

                    80             3 897 410              3 428 294              469 116                          - 

*This disclosure was added for the first time in 2025

The undrawn component of revocable facilities granted in respect of wholesale exposures which was not utilized at 31 March 2025 

amounts to R5.3 billion (31 March 2024: R5.8 billion).

Concentration risk is the risk of loss to the Group arising from an excessive concentration of exposure to a single counterparty or
product. This concentration typically exists when several counterparties are engaged in similar activities and have similar characteristics
that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changed in economic conditions. Concentration
risk is managed based on the nature of the credit concentration within each portfolio.
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26 Financial risk management (continued)

26.2 Market risk

2025 Group R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000
Assets 
 Cash and cash equivalents           400 834                       -                     -                       -                            -          400 834 

 Current tax receivable                       -                       -                     -                       -                  37 590            37 590 

 Trade and other receivables                        -                       -                     -                       -                  33 528            33 528 

 Deferred tax                       -                       -                     -                       -                266 705          266 705 

 Other investments                        -                       -                     -                       -                  44 441            44 441 

 Loans and receivables (variable)      40 341 748                       -                     -                       -                            -     40 341 748 

 Loans and receivables (fixed)                       -                       -                     -                       -           17 125 764     17 125 764 

 Property, plant and equipment                        -                       -                     -                       -                  13 359            13 359 

     40 742 582                       -                     -                       -           17 521 387     58 263 969 

Liabilities 

 Bank overdraft        2 842 184                       -                     -                       -                            -       2 842 184 

 Trade and other payables                       -                       -                     -                       -             2 979 477       2 979 477 

 Lease liability             15 540                       -                     -                       -                            -            15 540 

 Employee benefits liability                       -                       -                     -                       -                  16 917            16 917 

 Regulatory Provision                  50 500            50 500 

 Borrowings (variable)                       -      28 148 500                     -                       -                            -     28 148 500 

 Borrowings (fixed)                       -                       -                     -                       -           18 800 000     18 800 000 

       2 857 724      28 148 500                     -                       -           21 846 894     52 853 118 

2024 Group

Assets 
 Cash and cash equivalents           128 350                       -                     -                       -                            -          128 350 

 Current tax receivable                       -                       -                     -                       -                  31 720            31 720 

 Trade and other receivables                        -                       -                     -                       -                  10 788            10 788 

 Deferred tax                       -                       -                     -                       -                275 272          275 272 

 Other investments                        -                       -                     -                       -                  49 452            49 452 

 Loans and receivables (variable)      33 022 042                       -                     -                       -                            -     33 022 042 

 Loans and receivables (fixed)                       -                       -                     -                       -           18 519 671     18 519 671 

 Property, plant and equipment                        -                       -                     -                       -                  17 577            17 577 

     33 150 392                       -                     -                       -           18 904 480     52 054 872 

Liabilities 
 Bank overdraft        1 243 901                       -                     -                       -                            -       1 243 901 

 Trade and other payables                       -                       -                     -                       -             1 454 803       1 454 803 

 Lease liability             18 818                       -                     -                       -                            -            18 818 

 Employee benefits liability                       -                       -                     -                       -                  15 115            15 115 

 Provision                       -                       -                     -                       -                  40 000            40 000 

 Borrowings (variable)                       -      25 502 000                     -                       -                            -     25 502 000 

 Borrowings (fixed)                       -                       -                     -                       -           18 835 000     18 835 000 

       1 262 719      25 502 000                     -                       -           20 344 918     47 109 637 

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk associated with fluctuations in the market rates as a result of lending and borrowing
activities. The Group issues a mixture of fixed and variable interest rate, short and long-term debt, which is used to fund a mixture of
fixed and variable interest rate assets. The Group manages interest rate risk on a portfolio basis by maintaining an appropriate mix of
fixed and variable rate borrowings.
The table below summarises the exposure to interest rate risk through grouping assets and liabilities into repricing categories,
determined to be the earlier of contractual re-pricing date or maturity. 

Total
 Up to 1 

month 
 1 to 3

 months 
 4 to 12 
months 

 Beyond 12 
months 

 Non-interest 
sensitive items 
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26 Financial risk management (continued)

26.2 Market risk (continued)

2025 Company R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000
 Assets 
 Cash and cash equivalents                  839                      -                     -                      -                      -                  839 
 Current tax receivable                      -                      -                     -                      -             30 134             30 134 
 Trade and other receivables                       -                      -                     -                      -             36 853             36 853 
 Receivable from subsidiary                      -                      -                     -                      -             10 638             10 638 
 Inventories                      -                      -                     -                      -                      -                      - 
 Deferred tax                      -                      -                     -                      -           266 705           266 705 
 Other investments                       -                      -                     -                      -             44 441             44 441 
 Loans and advances (variable)      40 341 748                      -                     -                      -                      -      40 341 748 
 Loans and advances (fixed)                      -                      -                     -                      -      17 125 764      17 125 764 
 Investment in subsidiary                      -                      -                     -                      -           529 412           529 412 
 Property, plant and equipment                       -                      -                     -                      -             13 359             13 359 

     40 342 587                      -                     -                      -      18 057 306      58 399 893 

Liabilities 
 Bank overdraft        2 842 184                      -                     -                      -                      -        2 842 184 
 Trade and other payables                      -                      -                     -                      -        2 935 480        2 935 480 
 Lease liabilities             15 540                      -                     -                      -                      -             15 540 
 Loan from subsidiary (fixed)                      -                      -                     -                      -        2 633 583        2 633 583 
 Employee benefits liability                      -                      -                     -                      -             16 917             16 917 
 Regulatory Provision                      -                      -                     -                      -             50 500             50 500 
 Borrowings (variable)                      -      25 725 000                     -                      -                      -      25 725 000 
 Borrowings (fixed)                      -                      -                     -                      -      18 800 000      18 800 000 

       2 857 724      25 725 000                     -                      -      24 436 480      53 019 204 

2024 Company 
 Assets 
 Cash and cash equivalents               2 192                      -                     -                      -                      -               2 192 
 Current tax receivable                      -                      -                     -                      -             16 228             16 228 
 Trade and other receivables                       -                      -                     -                      -             17 092             17 092 
 Receivable from subsidiary                      -                      -                     -                      -               4 343               4 343 
 Deferred tax                      -                      -                     -                      -           275 272           275 272 
 Other investments                       -                      -                     -                      -             49 452             49 452 
 Loans and advances (fixed)      33 022 042                      -                     -                      -                      -      33 022 042 
 Loans and advances (variable)                      -                      -                     -                      -      18 519 671      18 519 671 
 Investment in subsidiary                      -                      -                     -                      -           176 471           176 471 
 Property, plant and equipment                       -                      -                     -                      -             17 577             17 577 

     33 024 234                      -                     -                      -      19 076 106      52 100 340 

Liabilities 
 Bank overdraft        1 243 901                      -                     -                      -                      -        1 243 901 
 Trade and other payables                      -                      -                     -                      -        1 440 844        1 440 844 
 Lease liabilities             18 818                      -                     -                      -                      -             18 818 
 Loan from subsidiary (Fixed)                      -                      -                     -                      -           991 556           991 556 
 Employee benefits liability                      -                      -                     -                      -             15 115             15 115 
 Regulatory Provision                      -                      -                     -                      -             40 000             40 000 
 Borrowings (variable)                      -      25 502 000                     -                      -                      -      25 502 000 
 Borrowings (fixed)                      -                      -                     -                      -      17 900 000      17 900 000 

       1 262 719      25 502 000                     -                      -      20 387 515      47 152 234 

Total
 Non-interest 

sensitive 
items 

 Up to 1 
month 

 1 to 3
 months 

 4 to 12 
months 

 Beyond 12 
months 
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26 Financial risk management (continued)

26.3 Sensitivity analysis

Group

Assets R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Loans and advances (variable)           403 417        (403 417)     40 341 748           330 220          (330 220) 33 022 042     

Loans and advances (fixed)                     -   -     17 125 764 -                      - 18 519 671     

Trade and other receivables                     -   -            33 528 -                      - 10 788            

Cash and cash equivalents               4 008            (4 008)          400 834               1 284              (1 284) 128 350          

Current tax receivable                     -   -            37 590 -                      - 31 720            

Liabilities 
Borrowings (variable)         (281 485)          281 485    (28 148 500)          (255 020)           255 020 (25 502 000)    

Borrowings (fixed)                     -   -    (18 800 000) -                      - (18 835 000)    

Trade and other payables                     -   -      (2 979 477) -                      - (1 454 803)      

Lease liabilities                (155)                 155           (15 540)                 (188)                  188 (18 818)           

Bank overdraft           (28 422)            28 422      (2 842 184)            (12 439)             12 439 (1 243 901)      

Net exposure 97 363           (97 363)         5 153 763      63 857            (63 857)           4 658 049       

Company
Assets 

Loans and advances (variable)           403 417        (403 417)     40 341 748           330 220          (330 220) 33 022 042     

Loans and advances (fixed)                     -                      -       17 125 764                     -                       -   18 519 671     

Trade and other receivables                     -                      -              36 853                     -                       -   17 092            

Cash and cash equivalents                      8                   (8)                 839                    22                   (22) 2 192              

Current tax receivable                     -                      -              30 134                     -                       -   16 228            

Investment in subsidiary                     -                      -            529 412                     -                       -   176 471          

Liabilities 
Borrowings (variable)         (257 250)          257 250    (25 725 000)          (255 020)           255 020 (25 502 000)    

Borrowings (fixed)                     -                      -      (18 800 000)                     -                       -   (17 900 000)    

Loan from subsidiary                     -                      -        (2 633 583)                     -                       -   (991 556)         

Trade and other payables                     -                      -   (2 935 480)                         -                       -   (1 440 844)      

Lease liabilities                (155)                 155           (15 540)                 (188)                  188 (18 818)           

Bank overdraft           (28 422)            28 422 (2 842 184)                (12 439)             12 439 (1 243 901)      

Net exposure 117 598         (117 598)       5 112 963      62 595            (62 595)           4 656 577       

The sensitivity analysis is prepared based on variable financial instruments that are recognised at the end of the reporting period. This
is the case even where those exposures did not exist for the entire period or where the exposure changed materially during the period.
For the current financial year, the Group considered an increase and a decrease of 100 basis points. The change in interest rates at
the reporting date would have increased / (decreased) profit and equity by the amounts shown below for a period of one year
compounded monthly.

 Total
carrying

value 

 Effect on 
profit before 

tax of 1% 
decrease in 

rates 

 Effect on 
profit before 

tax of 1% 
decrease in 

rates 

 Total
carrying

value 

 Effect on 
profit before 

tax of 1% 
increase in 

rates 

 Effect on 
profit before 

tax of 1% 
increase in 

rates 

2025 2024
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26 Financial risk management (continued)

26.4 Liquidity risk

Financial assets

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

2025 Group

Cash and cash equivalents         400 834                    -                    -                     -                    -         400 834 

Trade and other receivables            33 528                    -                    -                     -                    -           33 528 
Loans and advances including 
unearned finance charges    20 295 309    15 127 187    13 529 184    20 685 104     6 174 904    75 811 688 

   20 729 671    15 127 187    13 529 184    20 685 104     6 174 904    76 246 050 

2025 Company 

Cash and cash equivalents                839                    -                    -                     -                    -                839 

Trade and other receivables            36 853                    -                    -                     -                    -           36 853 
Loans and advances including 
unearned finance charges    20 295 309    15 127 187    13 529 184    20 685 104     6 174 904    75 811 688 

   20 333 001    15 127 187    13 529 184    20 685 104     6 174 904    75 849 380 

2024 Group

Cash and cash equivalents         128 350                    -                    -                     -                    -         128 350 

Trade and other receivables            10 788                    -                    -                     -                    -           10 788 
Loans and advances including 
unearned finance charges    18 023 150    14 604 906    12 717 445    17 892 557     5 435 786    68 673 845 

   18 162 288    14 604 906    12 717 445    17 892 557     5 435 786    68 812 983 

2024 Company 

Cash and cash equivalents             2 192                    -                    -                     -                    -             2 192 

Trade and other receivables            17 092                    -                    -                     -                    -           17 092 
Loans and advances including 
unearned finance charges     18 023 150    14 604 906    12 717 445    17 892 557     5 435 786    68 673 845 

   18 042 434    14 604 906    12 717 445    17 892 557     5 435 786    68 693 129 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its financial liabilities when they
fall due. The management of liquidity is primarily carried out in accordance with practices and limits set by the TFSC global policy.

The Group manages liquidity risk by employing a number of funding strategies and utilising monitoring tools. Diversification of
funding sources via short-term and long-term capital markets and committed and uncommitted bank facilities are used to manage
borrowing capacity. Capital market activity is further managed by the use of a Guarantee from Toyota Motor Finance Netherlands
B.V, under a Credit Support Agreement in place with Toyota Motor Corporation.

Liquidity requirements are managed by the use of both short and long-term cash flow forecasts and monitoring forecast and
actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

Due 
between 2 

and 3 years

Due after 5 
years

 Total
Due within 1 

year

Due 
between 1 

and 2 years

Due between 
3 and 5 

years
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26 Financial risk management (continued)

26.4 Liquidity risk (continued)

Financial liabilities
Due within 1 

year

Due 
between 1 

and 2 years

Due 
between 2 

and 3 years

Due 
between 3 

and 5 years

Due after 5 
years

 Total

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

2025 Group

Bank overdraft      2 842 184                    -                    -                    -                   -      2 842 184 

Lease liabilities             5 235             5 654             6 106             1 030                   -           18 025 

Trade and other payables      2 979 477                    -                    -                    -                   -      2 979 477 

Borrowings    21 300 608    17 910 785    12 337 189      4 531 230                   -    56 079 812 

   27 127 504    17 916 439    12 343 295      4 532 260                   -    61 919 498 

2025 Company 

Bank overdraft      2 842 184                    -                    -                    -                   -      2 842 184 

Lease liabilities             5 235             5 654             6 106             1 030                   -           18 025 

Trade and other payables      2 935 480                    -                    -                    -                   -      2 935 480 

Loan from subsidiary         591 330         562 074         491 171         749 177        239 832      2 633 584 

Borrowings    20 497 159    17 030 553    11 498 430      3 789 909                   -    52 816 051 

   26 871 388    17 598 281    11 995 707      4 540 116        239 832    61 245 324 

2024 Group

Bank overdraft      1 243 901                    -                    -                    -                   -      1 243 901 

Lease liabilities             4 847             5 235             5 654             7 136                   -           22 872 

Trade and other payables      1 454 803                    -                    -                    -                   -      1 454 803 

Borrowings    16 366 543    15 676 900    12 153 152      7 992 783                   -    52 189 378 

   19 070 094    15 682 135    12 158 806      7 999 919                   -    54 910 954 

2024 Company 

Bank overdraft      1 243 901                    -                    -                    -                   -      1 243 901 

Lease liabilities             4 847             5 235             5 654             7 136                   -           22 872 

Trade and other payables      1 440 844                    -                    -                    -                   -      1 440 844 

Loan from subsidiary         217 600         221 143         195 088         271 604          86 121         991 556 

Borrowings    16 056 059    15 389 442    11 874 142      7 750 084                   -    51 069 727 

   18 963 251    15 615 820    12 074 884      8 028 824          86 121    54 768 900 

-
-
-

Capital Risk 

Above balances are undiscounted amounts whereas the statement of financial position is prepared using discounted amounts;

The above table presents the undiscounted cash flows, which include future principal and interest payments. These
balances will not reconcile to the statement of financial position for the following reasons:

Cash flows relating to principal and associated future coupon payments have been included on an undiscounted basis.               
The table includes cash flows not recognised in the statement of financial position; and

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for the shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the
cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of ordinary dividends paid to
shareholders. 
There are no externally imposed capital requirements on the Group.

Capital consists of share capital and premium of R 645 million (FY24: R645 million) , retained earnings of R4.7 billion (FY24: R4.3
billion) and equity reserves of R35 million (FY24: R39 million).
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26.5 Fair market value of financial assets and liabilities

a) Fair value estimation

b) Carrying amounts and fair value of financial instruments

26.5.1 Fair market value of financial assets and liabilities

Carrying value Fair value Carrying value Fair value

2025 2025 2024 2024

Financial assets R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Group and Company 

Retail lease 3 849 068       3 982 788       2 385 705       2 464 382       

Retail finance 49 303 522     51 340 769     45 338 978     47 390 302     

Wholesale 4 314 922       4 369 933       3 817 030       3 897 410       

Other investments: Hollard Business Associates 44 441            44 441            49 452            49 452            

Total Group 57 511 953     59 737 931     51 591 165     53 801 546     

Company

Investment in subsidiary* 529 412          538 163          176 471          179 463          

Receivable from subsidiary* 10 638            10 565            4 343              4 306              

Total Company 58 052 003     60 286 659     51 771 979     53 985 315     

Financial liabilities 

Group  

Borrowings 37 823 500     40 349 702     34 385 000     35 693 225     

Domestic medium term note 9 125 000       9 211 828       9 952 000       10 052 851     

46 948 500     49 561 530     44 337 000     45 746 076     

Company 

Borrowings 35 400 000     37 882 023     33 450 000     34 738 715     

Domestic medium term note 9 125 000       9 211 828       9 952 000       10 052 851     

Loans from subsidiary* 2 633 583       2 615 414       991 556          983 144          

47 158 583     49 709 265     44 393 556     45 774 710     

*Restated. These financial instruments were incorrectly excluded in the prior year financial statements. The Group has rectified the 
disclosure in the current year. This error did not have an impact on the primary financial  statements.

The carrying value of loans and receivables is shown net of impairment.

The fair value risk is managed by obtaining fair values from quoted market prices and discounted cash flow models.

At 31 March 2025 the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables
approximate their fair values due to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities.

The estimated fair value of loans and receivables is based on expected future cash flows discounted at current market rates. The
fair value estimates will depend on customer prepayments, credit losses and expected future interest rates.

The fair value of borrowings is based on current market prices where available. Where active market prices are not available, the
fair value of interest borrowings is based on the value of the borrowings as at balance sheet date being principle amount
outstanding plus interest accrued to date.
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26 Financial risk management (continued)

26.5.2 Fair value disclosures

Hierarchy levels

The levels have been defined as follows:

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Instrument
Valuation 
technique

Unobservable 
inputs

Financial assets

Loans and advances Discounted 
cash flows

Other investments Discounted 
cash flows

Estimation risk 
discount, portfolio 
risk discount 
(claims)

Investment in subsidiary

Receivable from subsidiary

Discounted 
cash flows

Default rates, risk 
adjusted spreads, 
expected business 
plans & historical 
comparisons

Financial liabilities
Valuation 
technique Observable inputs

Borrowings Discounted 
cash flows

Market interest 
rates and curves

Where the valuation technique incorporates
observable inputs for credit risk, level 2 of the fair
value hierarchy is deemed appropriate.

Fair value is based on quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for an identical financial asset or liability. An active
market is a market in which transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing
on an ongoing basis.

Fair value is determined through valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly, such as quoted prices, or
indirectly, such as those derived from quoted prices. This category includes instruments valued using quoted market prices in
active markets for similar instruments, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than
active or other valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data.

Fair value is determined through valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all instruments
where the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect
on the valuation. This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments
where significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the instrument being
valued and the similar instrument.

Description of valuation technique and 
assumptions

Future cash flows are discounted using interest rate
curves adjusted for credit inputs, over the
contractual period.
Since counterparties do not have actively traded or
observable credit spreads, loans and receivables
have been classified at level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy.

Future cash flows are discounted using market-
related interest rates adjusted for credit inputs, over
the contractual period.

Default rates, risk 
adjusted spreads, 
expected business 
plans & historical 
comparisons

The related forecasting curve is adjusted for liquidity
premiums and business unit margins. The valuation
methodology does not take early withdrawals and
other behavioural aspects into account.

Future cash flows are discounted using interest rate
curves adjusted for credit inputs, over the
contractual period.

Description of valuation technique and 
assumptions
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26 Financial risk management (continued)

26.5.2 Fair value disclosures

Instrument
Valuation 
technique

Observable 
inputs

Financial liabilities

Domestic Medium-term Note programme 
(listed bonds)

Discounted cash 
flows

Market interest 
rates and curves

Instrument Valuation 
technique

Unobservable 
inputs

Loans from subsidiary Discounted cash 
flows

Default rates, 
risk adjusted 
spreads, 
expected 
business plans & 
historical 
comparisons

26.6 Fair value hierachy levels

During the year, no assets or liabilities were transferred between level 1, level 2 and level 3 (2024: Rnil)

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3 Total

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

2025 Group and Company 

 Financial assets 

 Retail lease -                        -                                   3 982 788               3 982 788          

 Retail finance -                        -                                   51 340 769             51 340 769        

 Wholesale -                        -                                   4 369 933               4 369 933          

 Other investments: Insurance cell (HBA) -                        -                                   44 441                       44 441               

-                     -                                59 737 931             59 737 931     

Company

Investment in subsidiary* -                        -                                   538 163                     538 163             

Receivable from subsidiary* -                        -                                   10 565                       10 565               

-                     -                                60 286 659             60 286 659     

2025 Group

 Financial liabilities 

 Borrowings -                        40 349 702               -                                 40 349 702     

 Domestic medium term note -                        9 211 828                 -                                 9 211 828          

-                     49 561 530               -                              49 561 530     

2025 Company 
 Financial liabilities 

 Borrowings -                        37 882 023               -                                 37 882 023        

 Domestic medium term note -                        9 211 828                 -                                 9 211 828          

 Loans from subsidiary* -                        -                                   2 615 414               2 615 414          

-                     47 093 851               2 615 414               49 709 265     

Future cash flows are discounted using interest
rate curves adjusted for credit inputs, over the
contractual period.

Description of valuation technique and 
assumptions

Future cash flows are discounted using market-
related interest rates adjusted for credit inputs,
over the contractual period.

Where the valuation technique incorporates
observable inputs for credit risk, level 2 of the
fair value hierarchy is deemed appropriate.

Description of valuation technique and 
assumptions
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26.6 Fair value hierachy levels (continued)

2024 Group and Company   Level 1    Level 2   Level 3  Total 

 Financial assets R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

 Retail lease -                           -                      2 464 382       2 464 382          

 Retail finance -                           -                      47 390 302     47 390 302        

 Wholesale -                           -                      3 897 410       3 897 410          

 Other investments: Insurance cell (HBA) -                           -                      49 452            49 452               

-                           -                      53 801 546     53 801 546        

Company

Investment in subsidiary* -                           -                      179 463          179 463             

Receivable from subsidiary* -                           -                      4 306              4 306                 

-                        -                   53 985 315     53 985 315        

2024 Group

 Financial liabilities 

 Borrowings -                           35 693 225     -                      35 693 225        

 Domestic medium term note -                           10 052 851     -                      10 052 851        

-                           45 746 076     -                      45 746 076        

2024 Company 

 Financial liabilities 

 Borrowings -                           34 738 715     -                      34 738 715        

 Domestic medium term note -                           10 052 851     -                      10 052 851        

 Loans from subsidiary* -                           -                      983 144          983 144             

-                           44 791 566     983 144          45 774 710        

Reconciliation of level 3 investments

 Other 
Investments: 
Insurance Cell 
(HBA) 

R'000

Opening Balance FY23 24 104               

Unrealised gains / (losses) 25 348               

Balance at FY24 49 452               

Unrealised gains / (losses) (5 011)                

Closing Balance at FY25 44 441               

26.7 Categorisation of assets and liabilities

Financial assets

 Fair value 
through other 

comprehensive 
income 

 Amortised 
cost 

 Non-financial 
Assets Total

2025 Group R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Cash and cash equivalents -                           400 834          -                      400 834             

Current tax receivable -                           -                      37 590            37 590               

Trade and other receivables  -                           24 328            9 200              33 528               

Deferred tax -                           -                      266 705          266 705             

Other investments 44 441                 -                      -                      44 441               

Loans and advances -                           57 467 512     -                      57 467 512        

Property, plant and equipment  -                           -                      13 359            13 359               

44 441                 57 892 674     326 854          58 263 969        

*Restated. These financial instruments were incorrectly excluded in the prior year financial statements. The Group has rectified the
disclosure in the current year. 
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26 Financial risk management (continued)

26.7 Categorisation of assets and liabilities (continued)

Financial assets

Fair value 
through other 

comprehensive 
income

Amortised 
cost

Non-financial 
Assets Total

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

2025 Company 

 Cash and cash equivalents - 839 - 839

 Current tax receivable - - 30 134 30 134

 Trade and other receivables  - 27 436 9 417 36 853

 Receivable from subsidiary - 10 638 - 10 638

 Deferred tax - - 266 705 266 705

 Other investments 44 441 - - 44 441

 Loans and advances - 57 467 512 - 57 467 512

 Investment in subsidiary - 529 412 - 529 412

 Property, plant and equipment  - - 13 359 13 359

44 441 58 035 837 319 615 58 399 893

2024 Group

Cash and cash equivalents -                          128 350          -                      128 350

Current tax receivable -                          -                      31 720                        31 720 

Trade and other receivables  -                          6 375              4 413              10 788

Deferred tax -                          -                      275 272          275 272

Other investments 49 452                -                      -                      49 452

Loans and advances -                          51 541 713     -                      51 541 713

Property, plant and equipment  -                          -                      17 577            17 577

49 452 51 676 438 328 982 52 054 872

2024 Company 

 Cash and cash equivalents - 2 192 - 2 192

 Current tax receivable - - 16 228             16 228 

 Trade and other receivables  - 12 802 4 290 17 092

 Receivable from subsidiary - 4 343 - 4 343

 Deferred tax - - 275 272 275 272

 Other investments 49 452 - - 49 452

 Loans and receivables - 51 541 713 - 51 541 713

 Investment in subsidiary - 176 471 - 176 471

 Property, plant and equipment  - - 17 577 17 577

49 452 51 737 521 313 367 52 100 340
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26 Financial risk management (continued)

26.7 Categorisation of assets and liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities

 Fair value 
through other 

comprehensive 
income 

 Amortised 
cost 

 IAS 19 
Measurement 

 Non-financial 
liabilities Total

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

2025 Group

 Bank overdraft - 2 842 184       -                      - 2 842 184       

 Lease liabilities - 15 540            -                      - 15 540            

 Trade and other payables - 2 979 477       -                      - 2 979 477       

 Employee benefits liability -                             - 16 917             -                      16 917            

 Regulatory Provision -                             -                      -                      50 500            50 500            

 Borrowings - 46 948 500     -                      - 46 948 500     

-                             52 785 701     16 917             50 500            52 853 118     

2025 Company 

 Bank overdraft - 2 842 184       -                      - 2 842 184       

 Lease liabilities - 15 540            -                      -                      15 540            

 Trade and other payables - 2 935 480       -                      - 2 935 480       

 Employee benefits liability -                      -                      16 917             -                      16 917            

 Loan from subsidiary - 2 633 583       -                      - 2 633 583       

 Regulatory Provision -                             -                      -                      50 500            50 500            

 Borrowings - 44 525 000     -                      - 44 525 000     

-                             52 951 787     16 917             50 500            53 019 204     

2024 Group

 Bank overdraft - 1 243 901       -                      - 1 243 901       

 Lease liabilities - 18 818            -                      - 18 818            

 Trade and other payables - 1 454 803       -                      - 1 454 803       

 Employee benefits liability -                             - 15 115             -                      15 115            

 Regulatory Provision -                             -                      -                      40 000            40 000            

 Borrowings -                             44 337 000     -                      -                      44 337 000     

-                             47 054 522     15 115             40 000            47 109 637     

2024 Company 

 Bank overdraft - 1 243 901       -                      - 1 243 901       

 Lease liabilities - 18 818            -                      -                      18 818            

 Trade and other payables - 1 440 844       -                      - 1 440 844       

 Employee benefits liability -                             -                      15 115             -                      15 115            

 Loan from subsidiary - 991 556          -                      - 991 556          
 Regulatory Provision -                             -                      -                      40 000            40 000            

 Borrowings - 43 402 000     -                      - 43 402 000     

-                             47 097 119     15 115             40 000            47 152 234     
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Group Group Company Company

2025 2024 2025 2024

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

WesBank1

Management fees and other service related fees 365 509          345 266          365 509          345 266          

Toyota South Africa Motors Proprietary Limited2

Dealer funding solutions (vehicles purchased) 55 963 565     57 854 465     55 963 565     57 854 465     

Salaries and rental expenses 3 724              2 004              3 724              2 004              

Marketing and entertainment expenses 7 659              4 685              7 659              4 685              

Toyota Financial Services (UK) PLC3

Professional Fees 6 769              7 210              6 769              7 210              

Toyota Kreditbank GmbH3

IT related costs 1 926              1 187              1 926              1 187              

Professional Fees 15 198            17 939            15 198            17 939            

Toyota Motor Finance Netherlands B.V.3

Guarantee fee 16 182            15 443            16 182            15 443            

Commitment Fee 2 370              2 619              2 370              2 619              

Interest expense with related parties

FirstRand Bank Limited1 127 242          87 709            147 319          93 005            

Toyota Motor Finance Netherlands B.V3 531 192          533 183          531 192          533 183          

Ivuzi Investments1 -                      12 344            -                      12 344            

Spartan House 2018 (RF) Limited4 -                      -                      274 534          68 016            

Interest income received from related parties

Spartan House 2018 (RF) Limited4 -                      -                      44 155            13 958            

Income from related parties

Spartan House 2018 (RF) Limited Servicer fees4 -                      -                      10 658            3 118              

Spartan House 2018 (RF) Limited Dividend received4 -                      -                      -                      21 738            

Trade and other payables

Toyota South Africa Motors Proprietary Limited2 2 318 385       806 761          2 318 385       806 761          

Loans from related parties

FirstRand Bank Limited1 2 900 000       2 900 000       2 900 000       2 900 000       

RMB Overdraft facility1 2 842 184       1 243 901       2 842 184       1 243 901       

Toyota Motor Finance Netherlands B.V3 6 150 000       5 450 000       6 150 000       5 450 000       

Ivuzi Investments1 -                      -                      -                      -                      

Spartan House 2018 (RF) Limited4 -                      -                      2 633 583       991 556          

Investment in subsidiary

Spartan House Class B Note4 -                      -                      529 412          176 471          

Accrued interest on Spartan House Class B Note4 -                      -                      10 638            4 343              

Employee post employment benefits

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 1 468              1 200              1 468              1 200              

Present value of the defined benefit obligation 16 917            15 115            16 917            15 115            

The related parties of the Group consist of FirstRand Limited and its subsidiaries; Toyota South Africa Proprietary Limited and its
subsidiaries; Toyota Financial Services Corporation and its subsidiaries; and the Directors of the Group. This remuneration is
disclosed in Note 30.
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27 Related parties (continued)

1 FirstRand Limited and its subsidiaries. Overnight facility is settled daily with an average interest rate of 9.1% (FY2024: 9.1%)
2 Subsidiary of Toyota South Africa Proprietary Limited
3 Subsidiary of Toyota Financial Services Corporation
4 Subsidiary of the Group

Shareholders

Loans and advances to directors and prescribed officers Group Group Company Company

2025 2024 2025 2024

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Balance as at 1 April 544                624                 544               624                

Loans advanced during the year 3 274             1 534              3 274            1 534             

Interest charged during the year 186                181                 186               181                

Loan repayments during the year (1 897)            (1 795)            (1 897)           (1 795)            

Balance as at 31 March 2 107             544                 2 107            544                

28 Events after the reporting period

29 Litigation

No material facts or circumstances arose between the date of 31 March 2025 and this report which materially affects the financial
position of the Group at 31 March 2025 as reflected in these Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements.

The Group is currently engaged in two legal matters, neither of which meet the definition of a contingent liability.

Panel Van Conversion Class Action: In FY2023 Toyota Financial Services (South Africa) was named as a respondent in a class
action pertaining to panel van conversions for commercial taxi purposes. Legal counsel has been engaged to defend the matter
however it is not expected to be resolved within FY2026. To proceed as a class action, the matter must first be certified by the High
Court and there has been no progress in obtaining this certification.  The certification process will be opposed by the Group.

Competition Commission Referral: In February 2022 the Group had a complaint referral in terms of the Competition Act before the
Competition Tribunal and engaged legal counsel to defend the matter on our behalf. The matter remains ongoing. At this stage we do
not expect it to be resolved within FY2026.

The Group is effectively held 66.7% by Toyota Motor Corporation, Japan; which is the ultimate parent.
* WesInvest is ultimately a subsidiary of FirstRand Limited.

Key management personnel of the Group are the Group's board of directors and the prescribed officers, including any entities which
provide key management personnel services to the Group. Their close family members include spouse/domestic partner and
dependent children, domestic dependent children and any other dependants of the individual or their domestic partner.
Children over the age of 25 are no longer considered dependents.

Related party loan tenors vary between overnight and 5 years. Interest rates are based on the market driven fixed rate at the time or
alternatively based on the 3 month JIBAR at the last quarterly reset plus a market related margin.

Loans and advances to directors and prescribed officers relate to vehicle financing. Loans are charged at preferred risk weighted
interest rates and vary between 10.75% - 10.00% (FY2024: 10.25% - 10.75%). The tenor is dependent on the individual structure
taken by the director/prescribed officer. These loans and advances are included in the Loans and Advances Note 12 disclosure.

The shareholders of the Group are:
- WesInvest Holdings Proprietary Limited* 33.3%
- Toyota South Africa Proprietary Limited 33.3%
- Toyota Financial Services (UK) PLC 33.3%

84



Toyota Financial Services (South Africa) Limited
(Registration number 1982/010082/06)
Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements

30

Group and Company

Cash Package
Retirement 

Contribution
Performance 

Related Housing Other** Total

2025

T.S.C. Manaka               3 468                    336               1 772                       -                 329 5 905             

M. Joubert               2 198                    201                    47                       -                     - 2 446             

A.W. Hedding                  492                        -                      -                       -                     - 492                

N. Siyotula                  392                        -                      -                       -                     - 392                

W. Klaassen                  384                        -                      -                       -                     - 384                

Total 6 934 537 1 819                       - 329 9 619

2024

T.S.C. Manaka               3 089                    316               1 807                       -                 397 5 609             

S. Matsui               1 300                        -                  803                  373                 581 3 057             

S. Ingersent               2 517                        -                      -                       -                     - 2 517             

M. Joubert*                  183                     17                      -                       -                 600 800                

A.W. Hedding                  456                        -                      -                       -                     - 456                

N. Siyotula                  480                        -                      -                       -                     - 480                

W. Klaassen                  360                        -                      -                       -                     - 360                

Total 8 385 333 2 610 373 1 578 13 279

31 Going Concern

The Board, thus believes that the going concern assumption is appropriate for the presentation of both the Group and Company
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025.

A prescribed officer is a person who exercises general executive control over management of a significant portion of the business and
activities of the Group. All executive directors and prescribed officers have a notice period of one month.
The Directors not listed above receive no remuneration for their services to the Group. During the financial year, no contracts were
entered into in which directors or prescribed officers of the Group had an interest.

In the event that there is a dislocation in the financial markets which makes both liquidity and funding unavailable for a period of time,
an option available to the Group would be to make an appropriate adjustment to its origination strategies, so as to enable the Group to
meet its debt maturity commitments. This option would result in no breaches of any of its financial covenants.

The Group continues to adhere to its local and global treasury guidelines which are in line with Shareholder best practice. Management
and the Board continue to monitor the different potential outcomes over the next 12 months and are confident that sufficient mitigating
controls are in place for any eventuality.

* Directors with less than a full year of service.
** Other allowances include expatriate taxes, travel, medical and leave pay-outs.

T.S.C. Manaka, S. Ingersent and M. Joubert are executive directors and prescribed officers of the Group. 

The Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 have been prepared on a going
concern basis, which assumes that the Group and Company will be able to meet its obligations for the foreseeable future. Whilst
management continues to maintain a cautious outlook, the Group's fundamentals are solid allowing for future growth. The Debt to
Equity Ratio remains robust at 9.8 times as at 31 March 2025. 

Management, on behalf of the Board of Directors, continued to engage all lenders through FY2025, and together with their continued
support, facilities either grew or remained static as per the requirement of the Group during the period under review. The Board is
confident that all funding sources remain available into the foreseeable future.

Management has prepared the FY2026 Group budget projecting to FY2027 and FY2028, which reflects that the business is expected
to be profitable and liquidity will be adequate to fund all commitments and that all financial covenants will be met.

85



Toyota Financial Services (South Africa) Limited
(Registration number 1982/010082/06)
Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025

Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements

32 Prior Year Restatements

Group Company

R'000 R'000

6 628 180      6 542 327      

242 879        242 879         

6 871 059      6 785 206      

(180 914)       (248 214)        

242 879        242 879         

61 965          (5 335)            

(934 637)       (993 495)        

1 001 022      1 001 022      

66 385          7 527             

(1 115 551)    (1 241 709)     

1 243 901      1 243 901      

128 350        2 192             

The prior period has been restated accordingly, resulting in net outflows of R242.9 million being reclassified from net decrease in cash
and cash equivalents to cash flows utilised in financing activities in the prior period consolidated and separate cash flow statements.
The balance on the overdraft at 31 March 2024 was R1.2 billion. This error was due to the incorrect classification of the bank overdraft
in the prior year. 

2024

Decrease due to overdrafts

Decrease due to overdrafts

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the year (restated)

Cash flows on bank overdrafts were therefore reclassified as financing activities on the consolidated and separate cash flow
statements.

The consolidated and separate cash flow statements were impacted by the correction of the prior period error. There is no effect on the
consolidated and separate statement of financial position or on the consolidated and separate statement of comprehensive income.

The error has been adjusted for retrospectively and the comparative information has been restated as disclosed below. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the year (as previously reported)

Correction of the classification of bank overdrafts as part of the cash and cash equivalents

Net cash flows from financing activities (as previously reported)

Net increase / decrease in cash and cash equivalents (restated)

Increase due to overdrafts

Net cash flows from financing activities (restated)

Net increase / decrease in cash and cash equivalents (as previously reported)

Decrease due to overdrafts

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the year (restated)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the year (As previously reported)

During FY25 it was identified that the Group had incorrectly classified the bank overdraft as part of the cash and cash equivalents. 
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